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                                             (continued operations)                                     (including
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2007

2006

2005

2004

2004

2003

Operating revenues
NOK million
3,490
3,965
2,413
2,142
2,512
EBITDA
NOK million
606
828
310
336
339
Profit before other items
NOK million
445
655
133
199
173
Ordinary profit before taxes
NOK million
442
656
148
273
197
Net profit
NOK million
292
440
22
195
161
Total assets
NOK million
2,952
3,310
2,994
3,257
3,261
Equity
NOK million
1,624
1,972
2,166
2,564
2,270
							
Return on equity, ex. other items
%
16.2
21.3
0.9
6.4
4.7
Return on total assets, ex. other items %
15.2
21.0
4.9
7.1
6.3
							
Earnings per share
NOK
1.76
2.48
0.05
0.92
0.82
Earnings per share fully diluted
NOK
1.76
2.48
0.05
0.92
0.82
Net cash flow from operating activities
NOK million
526
344
230
408
217
							
Number of employees as of 31 December
2,040
2,022
1,906
1,824
1,972
Female employees
%
20
18
19
17
17
Female managers (of all managers)
%
19
17
17
16
16
Ethnic minority employees
%
32
35
34
33
33
Number of reportable injuries		
167
116
153
178
178
Carbon dioxide emissions
Metric tons
28,900
26,000
21,000
22,000
30,900
Waste generation
Metric tons
1,745
1,585
1,580
1,460
1,470

2,463
415
242
285
163
3,387
2,594
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> Operating revenues equaled NOK 3,490 million,
a reduction of 12 percent compared to 2006.
Operating profit was NOK 445 million in 2007,
down from NOK 655 million in 2006.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 2007
Operating revenues amounted to NOK 3,490 million
in 2007. This represents a reduction of 12 percent in
relation to 2006. If adjusted for the extraordinary
machine sales to Germany in 2006, operating
revenues showed an increase of 20 percent.
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> Cash flow from operations was NOK 526 million,
up from NOK 344 million in 2006.

> 2,400 reverse vending machines were delivered
to Germany, down from 8,800 in 2006 when the
country implemented its national deposit system
for non-refillable beverage containers. Revenues
increased by 20 percent in 2007, excluding
reverse vending machine sales in Germany.
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> Sales in the Nordic market grew by 45 percent
compared to 2006, impacted largely by the
implementation of deposit on non-refillable
containers in Finland from 1 January 2008.

> TiTech delivered for the fourth year in a row
increased revenues and profit. The company
also fully integrated Commodas, acquired in
2006, into its operations.

> TOMRA’s activities in California recorded the
best year ever with operating revenues of NOK
601 million, an increase of 26 percent measured
in local currency.

> At year-end a total of 30 Automated Recycling
David Williamson
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Board member since 2008.
Number of TOMRA shares/options held:
0/1,200.

Centers (ARCs) were installed at Tesco
supermarkets in the UK. The centers have
been well received by Tesco and consumers,
but TOMRA incurred extraordinary deployment
costs.

> TOMRA entered into an agreement with Waste
Karen Michelet
Employee representative
Board member since 2008.
Number of TOMRA shares/options held: 0/...



Management Inc. in the US for delivery of 15
ARCs, to be installed in 2008.

> TOMRA repurchased 9.2 million shares of its
stock, financed partly through loans and partly
from operational cash flow.     

Operating profit was NOK 445 million in 2007,
down from NOK 655 million in 2006. If adjusted
for machine sales to Germany, the operating profit
also showed an increase of 20 percent in relation
to 2006.
Net financial items were reduced from NOK 1 million
in 2006 to minus NOK 3 million in 2007 as a result
of increased debt obligations within the Group.
The profit for 2007 was positively influenced by a
foreign exchange profit of NOK 13 million.
Net profit after taxes equaled NOK 292 million
compared to NOK 440 million the previous year.
Earnings per share in 2007 equaled NOK 1.76,
versus NOK 2.48 in 2006.
TOMRA’s balance sheet as of 31 December 2007
was NOK 2,952 million. This represented a
reduction of 11 percent relative to the balance
at the beginning of the year. This was due in part
to a lower amount of working capital and a lower
level of investment, combined
with a lower
balance sheet
value measured in
NOK on assets
denominated in
USD. Cash flow
from operations
was strong and
finished at NOK
526 million
compared to NOK
344 million in
2006. The equity
ratio was 55 percent at year-end.
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
Nunc laoreet lacus at urna.

Tomra Systems ASA had a reduction in operating
revenues from NOK 1,532 million in 2006 to NOK
836 million in 2007.  Operating profit was at the
same time reduced from NOK 206 million til NOK
47 million. The reduction was due primarily to
lower sales of technology to the German market.
After subsidiary dividends of NOK 203 million,
the net profit for 2007 equaled NOK 269.2 million
after taxes. The Board of Directors recommends
the following profit allocation for 2007, including
a proposed dividend distribution of NOK 0.45 per
share, which is an increase of NOK 0.05 compared
to 2006:
Dividend:
Retained earnings:
Total amount applied:

NOK 69.9 million
NOK 199.3 million
NOK 269.2 million

The Board of Directors confirms that the accounts
have been prepared on a going concern basis and
in accordance with IFRS for the Tomra Group
companies and NGAAP for Tomra Systems ASA.
The Board is of the opinion that the financial
accounts give a correct representation of the
company’s activities in 2007.
THE FRAMEWORK GOVERNING
TOMRA’S OPERATIONS
TOMRA’s reverse vending technology provides an
efficient collection and handling system for deposit
beverage containers in retail locations. Correct
recognition as well as automated sorting and
storage of empty containers reduces retailers’
handling costs to a minimum. This idea formed
the basis for the establishment of TOMRA in 1972.
The company’s growth since its inception has
mainly been driven by the implementation of
beverage container deposit systems in new
markets, either through voluntary or legislatively
enforced arrangements.
Early in the 1990s TOMRA expanded its activities
with the addition of comprehensive solutions to
cover a greater part of the beverage container
recycling value chain. Automated compaction of
used non-refillable containers contributes to the



reduction of transport costs and subsequent
handling. Electronic collection and processing of
transaction data from the reverse vending machines
also provides a secure and cost-effective way to
administrate the deposit refunds and materials. This
expansion of the business model was, and still is, key
to TOMRA’s growth in the North American market.
Despite all the documented advantages of a
deposit system, few markets besides Germany
have implemented deposit in recent years.
Recognizing that it could take time before new
markets accepted deposit as an effective means of
recycling used packaging, TOMRA decided to start
developing collection and sorting technology that
could also be utilized in markets without deposit
on beverage packaging. The results of the company’s efforts in this regard have been positive,
and in 2007 TOMRA’s revenues from non-deposit
activities represented 20 percent of the company’s
total revenues, up from 13 percent in 2006. This percentage is expected to increase in the years ahead.



The implementation of deposit on non-refillable
beverage containers in Germany in 2006 resulted
in an extensive automation of collection systems in
German food retail outlets. Such deposit initiatives
will always open an opportunity for strong temporary growth in TOMRA’s reverse vending machine
sales, which will
then subside after
the automation
process has been
completed. There
are a number of
examples where
this has occurred
throughout
TOMRA’s history.
Following this
pattern, TOMRA
has experienced a
drop in its operating revenues and
profit in 2007
after the extraorLorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
Nunc laoreet lacus at urna.

dinary sales figures achieved in Germany in 2006.
Today the company’s operations are more robust
and less dependent on temporary opportunities in
individual markets. Even though short-term
swings in demand for TOMRA’s solutions may
occur, the company will in the long run be able
to capitalize on strong macro trends that are
working in favor of the recycling industry. This
includes such fators as increasing per capita
waste levels, stricter waste recycling regulations,
greater corporate responsibility and environmental
awareness, and the growing view that used
materials are in fact valuable resources rather
than waste. In some markets these factors will
result in the implementation of deposit systems,
in others different solutions will be developed.
Regardless of which solutions are selected, TOMRA
is of the opinion that more ambitious recycling rates
require increased use of technology. In this sense,
TOMRA is in a unique position as being one of the
world’s leading providers of high-tech solutions in
an industry that will undoubtedly grow in the
years ahead.
KEY ACTIVITIES
TOMRA’s mission statement is “Helping the world
recycle.” In pursuit of this, TOMRA has become an
international corporation with a presence in more
than 45 countries around the world. The company’s
headquarters are located in Asker, Norway, and its
principal markets lie in North America and Europe.
The company’s activities are organized within
four business segments: Collection Technology,
Deposit Solutions; Materials Handling; Collection
Technology, Non-Deposit Solutions; and Industrial
Processing Technology. The first two segments
are related to TOMRA’s activities in markets with
deposit on beverage containers. The latter two
segments represent the company’s activities in
markets without beverage container deposit
systems and other material streams beyond
beverage packaging.

Collection Technology, Deposit Solutions
TOMRA’s activities within this business segment
include the sale, lease and servicing of reverse
vending machines, primarily in Europe and North
America. In addition TOMRA provides data
administration systems which monitor the volume
of collected materials and associated deposit
transactions.
In 2007 the revenues within this segment amounted
to NOK 1,731 million, down from NOK 2,429 the
previous year. The gross contribution increased
from 40 percent to 44 percent and the operating
profit was reduced from NOK 564 million to NOK
345 million.
TOMRA maintained its position as the leading
supplier of reverse vending machines in Europe
in 2007. Revenues from the European operations
amounted to NOK 1,403 million, down from NOK
2,038 million in 2006. This decrease represents
a return to the normal sales levels in the German
market following the extraordinary sales peak
experienced last year due to the implementation
of deposit on non-refillable beverage containers in
this country on 1 May 2006.
TOMRA installed a total of 8,800 machines in
Germany in 2006. The automation of collection
systems for non-refillable containers at retail
markets continued in 2007, but at a lower tempo.
In all TOMRA installed 2,400 machines in Germany
in 2007, 200 of which were of the UNO model. This
resulted in TOMRA also maintaining its market
share in the German market in 2007. At year-end
several of the larger grocery chains in Germany
had yet to automate their collection systems, and
these still represent an opportunity for TOMRA.
It is expected therefore that TOMRA’s installed
machine base in Germany will continue to grow in
the coming years.
The decrease in sales in Germany was partly offset
by increased sales in the Nordic region. Deposit
on non-refillable plastic beverage containers
was implemented in Finland on 1 January 2008,

resulting in an opportunity for TOMRA to sell new
machines and upgrade existing installations with
expanded backroom solutions. As a result revenues
in the Nordic market increased from NOK 422 million in 2006 to NOK 611 million in 2007. Sales in
the Finnish market will normalize again in 2008
as the majority of shops have now upgraded their
systems. There are however other opportunities
in the Nordic market, including for example the
implementation of a deposit lottery system where
consumers can use the deposit value from
beverage containers to play in a lottery instead
of having the deposit refunded to them. Such a
system was approved by the Norwegian Ministry
of Culture in 2007 and installations of the lottery
equipment on reverse vending machines in Norway
will begin in 2008.
The reverse vending activities in North America
generated total revenues of NOK 326 million in
2007, a decrease of 9 percent measured in USD.
TOMRA operates with two different business models
in the North American market. One is a sales model,
in which machines are sold to grocery stores in the
same way as is done in Europe, and the other is a
leasing model, where TOMRA maintains ownership
of the installed machines and receives payment
based on the number of cans and bottles that are
handled by the machines. The installed base within
these two models
remains stable with
about 6,400 sold
machines and 7,200
leased machines.
Revenues from the
leasing portfolio
were stable
in 2007, but
machine sales
declined which
contributed to the
overall revenue
reduction in the US
in 2007. This reduction was expected
since several of
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
Nunc laoreet lacus at urna.
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the larger chains
in Michigan and
New York upgraded
their installations
in 2006,
something which
contributed to the
unusually
high sales activity
that year.
As described in the
Directors’ Report
for 2006,
the EU Commission
has accused
TOMRA of
having hindered competition in the reverse
vending market within Austria, Germany, Holland,
Norway and Sweden by having implemented an
exclusive strategy during the period 1998 to 2002.
In March of 2006 the Commission decided to
impose a fine of EUR 24 million on TOMRA. Since
the TOMRA Board of Directors considered the EU 
Commissions’ decision to be without foundation,
the decision was appealed to the EU Court of First
Instance. The appeal is expected to be considered
by the Court of First Instance during 2008.
No allocations have so far been made in the
accounts relative to this case (see also note 5 in
the financial statements).
Materials Handling
TOMRA picks up, transports, processes and
markets used beverage packaging on behalf of
beverage producers on the East Coast of USA and
in Canada. In California, TOMRA also owns and
operates a network of collection centers situated
outside retail locations.



In 2007 this business segment contributed total
revenues of NOK 1,064 million, an increase of 4
percent over 2006. The increase measured in
USD was 14 percent. Operating profit increased to
NOK 105 million (NOK 101 million in 2006). The net
profit margin was stable at 10 percent.

Revenue growth from the materials handling
operations on the East Coast of USA and Canada
was essentially flat with a 1% increase in USD. The
trend toward increased consumption of bottled
water, which is not subject to deposit in many
states, as opposed to deposit beverages like beer
and soft drinks, is resulting in lower return volumes
and could lead to reduced potential for growth in
this segment.  
The collection operations in California on the
other hand experienced significant growth in
2007. Revenues increased by 15 percent compared
to 2006, going up to NOK 601 million. Measured
in USD the increase was 26 percent. This large
increase was driven by higher return volumes and
attractive commodity prices. A regulatory change
that was adopted in California in 2006 resulted in
the deposit amount on containers being raised in
2007, which in turn has made the return of used
containers more attractive for consumers.
Industrial Processing Technology (IPT)
TOMRA established this business segment through
the acquisition of TiTech Visionsort in 2004, Orwak
Group AB in 2005, and Commodas GmbH in 2006.
TiTech’s solutions allow large material processing
facilities to sort greater amounts of materials
such as plastic and paper, at a lower cost and
with greater precision than with traditional laborintensive methods. With the acquisition of
Commodas TOMRA has added a leading provider
of advanced technology for recognizing and
sorting high value materials such as metals, plastic,
glass, minerals and gem stones. Together TiTech
and Commodas represent the largest supplier in
the world of sensor-based systems for material
recognition and sorting. This group has delivered
1,700 systems in 35 countries on all continents. In
2007 the two companies integrated their product
portfolios, and going forward TiTech will market an
expanded portfolio toward the recycling industry
whereas Commodas will focus exclusively on
selling systems to the mining industry. Additionally
a new subsidiary, QVision, was established with the
goal of developing the same sensor technology for

a variety of quality control applications within the
food industry.       
The Orwak Group develops, manufactures and
sells compaction solutions for recyclable
materials such as cardboard, paper and plastic
for use in a number of different industries. The
company has activities in more than 30 countries.
Although TiTech/Commodas and Orwak have an
international customer base, their primary markets
are in Europe and North America.
Revenues and operating profit for IPT in 2007
were NOK 647 million (NOK 504 million in 2006)
and NOK 101 million (NOK 79 million in 2006)
respectively. The increase in income and operating
profit was driven by strong organic growth as well
as the acquisition of Commodas in 2006.
The TiTech Group had a record year in 2007,
the fourth in a row with regard to revenues and
operating profit. Revenues increased by over 40
percent compared to the previous record year in
2006. Strong development of its traditional
activities combined with increased sales to new
segments and markets was a decisive factor in
achieving the good results. The prospect for
continued strong growth is good.
Orwak Group AB
consists of two
units: Orwak AB,
which is focused
on the production and sale of
smaller vertical
compactors; and
Presona AB, which
produces and sells
large horizontal
balers.
Orwak AB developed positively in
2007, achieving
almost 10 percent
growth in both
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
Nunc laoreet lacus at urna.

revenue and operating profit. Systematic development of its marketing, product development and
production processes has made an impact and is
expected to contribute to further improvements
in the years ahead. Presona AB did not achieve
satisfactory development in 2007. Revenues fell by
11 percent and the company reported an operating
loss. The company’s management was replaced in
2007 and a number of measures have been taken
to improve the company’s profitability. The financial
statements for 2007 have in addition been charged
with NOK 7 million in capitalized development costs
and goodwill related to the acquisition of the company in 2005.
Collection Technology, Non-Deposit Solutions
This segment includes activities connected to
TOMRA’s new technology solutions for collection
of packaging in markets without deposit. Revenues
came in at NOK 48 million in 2007 compared to
NOK 11 million in 2006. The majority of revenues
came from activities in the UK and Japan. Due
to the significant costs associated with the
development of technology and markets, the
segment had an operating loss of NOK 90 million
in 2007, compared to an operating loss of NOK
73 million in 2006.
In 2006 Tomra Systems ASA signed a contract
with Tesco in the UK for the installation of
TOMRA’s Automated Recycling Center (ARC).
ARC is a product for collecting rigid beverage and
household product containers in markets without
deposit. The product has a large storage capacity
and is installed outdoors. The contract with Tesco
was for 100 such centers, and at the end of 2007
a total of 30 had been installed. The centers have
been a success relative to the expectations Tesco
and TOMRA had prior to the rollout regarding the
degree of consumer acceptance. Some of the centers by the end of 2007 were receiving 500,000
items per month, exceeding original estimates.
But the installation process has been costly for
TOMRA following the replacement of the principal
subcontractor and delays in getting building
permits. Tesco has also expressed a need to



resolve operational issues, and is working with
TOMRA to improve collection logistics and
increase the return level of higher value materials.
The order from Tesco was the first commercial
contract for this type of technology. In November
2007 TOMRA signed an agreement with Waste
Management Inc. in the USA for the delivery and
maintenance of 15 ARCs. Waste Management is
North America’s leading supplier of waste handling
services to municipalities, commercial and
industrial enterprises, and private households.
Waste Management will utilize the TOMRA ARCs
in a pilot program for markets without deposit in
North America with the purpose of studying how
consumers respond to recycling solutions that
provide an incentive to participate. This represents
the first introduction of the ARC technology in the
North American market. According to the agreement, the 15 centers will be installed in three test
markets during 2008. The pilot is expected to run
until the middle of 2009.
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In Japan, one of the primary goals for TOMRA
in providing its outdoor recycling centers was to
deliver solutions that would reduce the collection
costs for municipalities and at the same time lead
to an increase in the amount of materials collected.
In 2006 TOMRA and Sumitomo Corporation
entered into a
strategic partnership which set a
short term goal
of installing 100
machines in Tokyo
by the summer
of 2007. This target was achieved
during the first
quarter 2008. The
business model
in Japan is based
on leasing the
machines to the
municipalities, and
the leasing fee
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
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is adjusted according to the return volume going
through the machines. TOMRA and Sumitomo
are experiencing a steadily increasing return volume and believe that the model is working well
as the municipalities are reducing their container
collection costs, while the costs for TOMRA and
Sumitomo are being sufficiently covered through
the leasing income. The goal going forward is to
further build on the momentum that has been
created in the market and increase the installed
machine base. To this end, TOMRA has developed
a new machine platform, CITY, especially for the
Japanese market, that is very compact and has a
high compaction ratio capability.
TOMRA has in addition received orders from other
markets without deposit frameworks, including
Greece, Bulgaria, Italy, Mexico and South Korea.
Although these orders do not represent large
amounts, they do show the potential that exists for
further growth in this segment.  
Research and development activities
Research and development activities plus other
future-oriented projects were expensed at NOK 157
million. The comparative figure for 2006 was NOK
132 million. These activities are directed foremost
toward the development of reverse vending technology (Collection Technology, Deposit Solutions);
new collection technology for non-deposit markets
such as USA and the UK (Collection Technology,
Non-Deposit Solutions); and the recognition
and sorting technology provided by TiTech and
Commodas (Industrial Processing Technology).
FINANCIAL RISK
TOMRA faces normal business risks related to
contractual agreements with customers and
suppliers. There are however several conditions
that could affect the industry in which TOMRA
operates. A reduction in recycling targets and
ambitions, lower labor costs, and falling
material commodity prices would negatively
influence TOMRA’s business as the need for
advanced recycling technology would become
less obvious. Falling prices on aluminum and plastic

will also have a direct effect on the profitability of
our activities in California, where TOMRA owns the
materials that are collected  through our collection
centers. Fluctuations in the price of aluminum have
the largest effect, where a change of $100 per ton
for example would affect the Group’s operating
profit by almost one million dollars per year.
TOMRA’s operations are also to a large extent
influenced by political decisions, specifically with
regard to deposit legislation. If a country or state
decides to remove its existing deposit system there
will be limited incentives for TOMRA’s customers
to maintain current or invest in new TOMRA
equipment. In some markets, like for example in
the United States, an elimination of the deposit
legislation would immediately dissolve the
foundation for TOMRA’s daily operations. On the
other hand, the implementation or expansion of
deposit systems in a country or state will create
new growth opportunities for TOMRA.
Responsibility for financing, cash management
and financial risk management is handled by the
finance department within Tomra Systems ASA.
Historically speaking, TOMRA has seldom experienced losses on accounts receivable, and the
Group’s routines concerning credit approval are
considered satisfactory. TOMRA’s surplus cash is
placed primarily in Norwegian
crowns (NOK) with
duration of less
than six months.
Interest-bearing
debt is mainly
taken up in NOK,
normally at interest rates fixed for
a period of less
than six months.
TOMRA is exposed
to fluctuations in
currency exchange
rates. With 97 perLorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
Nunc laoreet lacus at urna.

cent of its income in foreign currencies, a strengthening of the Norwe-gian crown will lead to reduced
earnings for the Group when measured in this currency. The majority of risk is connected to swings
in the euro and U.S. dollar. TOMRA takes advantage
of forward exchange contracts to hedge future cash
flows in foreign currencies. As of the end of 2007,
no hedge accounting was applied to any of TOMRA’s
contracts.
In addition TOMRA has implemented the financial
risk management systems one would expect given
the size and complexity of the company’s operations.
A more extensive description of TOMRA’s internal
control procedures and systems for evaluating
financial risk are provided on page 61 in this report.
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
Through its operations TOMRA is helping the world
to recycle and reuse, rather than waste, valuable
resources. This is the company’s most important
contribution to a cleaner and more sustainable
society. This contribution is important because it
is an integral part of TOMRA’s operational development and because it is a motivating factor for
the company’s employees. It also sends a signal to
investors and the world at large that TOMRA is playing a role in solving the challenges of the future.    
Tomra Systems ASA is certified according to the
ISO 14001 standard for environmental leadership
and has publicly communicated its environmental
targets since 1998. TOMRA’s positive impact on
the environment is achieved primarily through the
energy and material savings resulting from the
use of the company’s recycling solutions. TOMRA’s
negative impact on the environment is principally
connected to consumption of energy in buildings,
industrial processes and motor vehicles, waste
generation and greenhouse gases from use of
fossil fuels. Overall TOMRA’s environmental
balance sheet shows a very positive net impact
on the environment.    
Further details about TOMRA’s impact on the
environment are presented on page 22 in this
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report. TOMRA’s
social and environmental report
is also reproduced
in its entirety
on www.tomra.
com under “Our
Organization/
Corporate
Responsibility.”

to 167 in 2007. Most of these instances occurred
within TOMRA’s material handling activities in the
USA, which involve handling crushed glass and
heavy lifting. TOMRA has placed greater focus on
implementing measures that will prevent injuries
in this area, and expects improvement going forward as a result. In 2007 TOMRA carried out a job
satisfaction survey among its employees, and the
results were positive and showed improvement
from the previous year.

Organization,
health, environment and safety
The number of
employees in the
Tomra Group was
2,040 at the end of 2007. In 2006 the number of
employees was 2,022 at year-end. In Norway the
number of employees went from 242 at the end of
2006 to 258 at the end of 2007.

Tomra Systems ASA is certified according to ISO
9001. This standard is used as guidance for the
company’s quality assurance procedures. TOMRA
also applies an internal management system that
incorporates goal- and result-orientation throughout the entire organization, including performance
and leadership evaluation.

TOMRA facilitates equal opportunity for professional and personal development for all employees.
Employment at TOMRA is based on qualifications,
merits, abilities and potential. TOMRA does not
discriminate the promotion of opportunities or
development of its employees on the basis of race,
color, religion, gender, natural origin, age, disability,
sexual orientation or any other physical attribute.
Female employees made up 20 percent of TOMRA’s
work force and held 19 percent of its management
positions at the end of 2007, an increase from 18
percent and 17 percent respectively in 2006. Three
of TOMRA’s seven board directors are women.
The number of employees that are considered
ethnic minorities in the countries in which they are
employed went down from 35 percent in 2006 to
32 percent in 2007.
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The absence rate due to sickness within Tomra
Systems ASA went down from 3.0 percent in 2006
to 2.0 percent in 2007. The number of job-related
injuries in TOMRA requiring medical attention
beyond basic first aid increased from 116 in 2006

Corporate Governance
TOMRA defines corporate governance as those
processes and control structures which are
established to protect the interests of the
company’s shareholders and other stakeholder
groups. TOMRA’s guidelines for corporate
governance, core values and leadership principles
are aligned to ensure sustainable development of
the company. These guidelines include the role of
the Board and its various committees,
requirements concerning the impartiality of its
board members, and board compensation. TOMRA’s
corporate governance policy is included in this
report on page 27 and can also be found on
TOMRA’s website www.tomra.com under “Investor
Relations/Corporate Governance.”
SHAREHOLDERS AND CAPITAL
The number of TOMRA shareholders fell from 12,218
at the end of 2006 to 9,990 at the end of 2007. The
amount of shares held by non-Norwegian residents
at the end of 2007 was 45 percent, up from 35
percent at year-end 2006. The TOMRA share price
dropped 11 percent from NOK 43.00 at the end of
2006 to NOK 38.50 at the end of 2007. A total of
411 million shares were traded in 2007, down from
601 million the year before. In September TOMRA

was awarded the Stockman Prize within the class of
small to medium-sized companies on the Oslo Stock
Exchange. This prize is awarded to companies listed
on the Oslo Stock Exchange that have produced the
best annual report and interim reports from a
financial analysis perspective, and which have
demonstrated exemplary informational activities
toward investors and the financial community.

workplaces by becoming shareholders in the company. With the general assembly’s approval, the
board recommends that a share purchase program
be established in which each employee will have
the opportunity to buy discounted shares from
the company’s running balance of treasury shares
acquired through the buy-back program.  

The face value of each share is one Norwegian
crown (1 NOK). The total number of outstanding
shares at year-end 2007 was 155.4 million, adjusted
for the 9.3 million treasury shares held by TOMRA.
The Board of Directors received approval at the
extraordinary general shareholders meeting in
December 2006 to buy back up to 10 million
shares of TOMRA stock. By year-end 2007 this
authority was essentially fully exercised. The Board
of Directors will at the annual general meeting in
April this year recommend that these shares be
cancelled.
The share buyback program is financed partially by
operating cash flow, and partially through a fiveyear bank loan of up to NOK 500 million, taken out
in 2006. Even after this loan, TOMRA has a very
solid balance and the necessary financial flexibility
for ensuring that growth initiatives can be realized.
In order to ensure further flexibility in adjusting
the capital structure, the Board
of Directors will
request a new
authority to buy
back a further 15
million shares at
the annual general
meeting in April
2008.
The Board of
Directors also
wishes to motivate TOMRA
employees to
invest in their own
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit.
Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam.
Nunc laoreet lacus at urna.

Asker, 20 February 2008
Jo Lunder
Chairman
Bjørn M. Wiggen

Aniela Gabriela Gjøs

Board member

Board member s

Jørgen Randers

David Williamson

Board member

Employee representative

Hege Marie Norheim

Karen Michelet

Board member

Employee representative
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Financial Statements

Profit and loss statement

Balance sheet as of 31 December

              Tomra Systems ASA
                         NGAAP

                            Group
                             IFRS

2007

2006

2005

836.2
2,413.1

1,531.6

399.4 

Amounts in NOK million

Note

                                  Tomra Systems ASA
                                          NGAAP
2007

2006

2007

2006

22.5

16.4 

                                                                                        Group
                           IFRS
Amounts in NOK million

Note

2007

2006

2005
Operating revenues

1

3,489.5  3,965.0

Assets
63.0

Deferred tax assets

10  

52.8

9,22

565.9

-   

-   

Goodwill

-   

-   

Development costs

9

50.9

-   

-   

Other intangible assets

9

32.2

619.4 
530.9
1,019.8
132.7
794.6 
13.1
139.7 
37.2 
112.4
288.8 
789.1
2,280.1

1,135.0

332.3 

2

1,635.4      1,966.3 
60.9 

127.3

140.7 

Employee benefits expenses

3,16

906.8

862.2 
32.5 

9.8

7.8 

-

125.3 

22.5 

16.4 

Total intangible non-current assets

19.4

23.7 

Property, plant and equipment

8

392.3

-

-

Leasing equipment

8

80.1

308.1

19.4

23.7 

3,044.4  3,310.0

1,592.1
419.3
2.9 

1,592.1
531.3 
-

Investment in subsidiaries
Loan to subsidiaries
Investments in associates
Other investments
Pensions

2,014.3 
2,056.2 

2,123.4 
2,163.5 

Long term receivables
Total financial non-current assets
Total non-current assets

61.1

17.5 

13.1
625.0
24.7
662.8

-  
605.4 
25.3 
630.7 

Trade receivables
Intra-group receivables
Other short-term receivables
Total receivables

116.4 

209.2 

Cash and cash equivalents

840.3 
2,896.5

857.4 
3,020.9 

Ordinary depreciation

8,9

154.0

162.2

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

14

-

-

701.8

775.8 

411.3 
-

-

Write-down of non-current assets 9

6.9

11.2
117.9 

53.7

50.6 

1,325.8

656.7 

205.8

(257.3

-

-

-

202.5

30.8

120.4 

67.1

52.0

49.3 

47.1
655.0133.0

Cost of goods sold

Other operating expenses

7

341.3

Total operating expenses
)

Operating profit

445.1

Total tangible non-current assets

472.4

529.2 

14,22
14
15              35.6          40.6
0.7
16

0.8 
2.9

Profit from associates

15

1.9

1.6

-

-

17.5

5.6

2.0
Dividend from subsidiaries

134.3
173.5
1,347.7

180.2 
221.6 
1,526.6 

Financial income

17.7

Inventory

2

529.1

524.5 
20.5

10.5

6.1

Financial expenses

249.1
1.2
14.5 

72.3

163.6 

Net financial items

296.2
147.5 

278.1

(93.7

)

Ordinary profit before taxes

27.0
216.3 55.2 

60.6

(15.3

)

Taxes

269.2 

217.5 

22.2

6.0

(2.8

)

442.3

656.2

972.6 

150.6

286.4 

5.2 

(78.4

)

4

Net profit continuing operations

10

732.8
151.8
7

813.9 
158.7 
884.6

17

190.8

Total current assets
Total assets

1,604.5
2,952.2

1,783.5 
3,310.1

291.7
Liabilities
164.7
173.6 
Share capital
164.7
173.6
and equity                    (9.3)           (9.2)Treasury shares                                                              (9.3)          (9.2)
1,418.3
1,418.3 
Share premium reserve
1,418.3
1,418.3 
1,573.7
1,582.7 
Paid-in capital
1,573.7
1,582.7 
299.9
1,873.6

491.7 
2,074.4 

Retained earnings
Minority interest
Total equity

50.1
56.3
20

388.9 
65.8 
1,680.1

Deferred tax liabilities

10

30.3

Pension liabilities

16

-

2,037.4 
-   

-   

19.8 
-   

14

7.7 

7.7 
389.9

325.0

Interest-bearing liabilities

-   
389.9

-   
332.7 

Other long-term liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

6

410.1

372.3 

5.8 

-   

Interest-bearing liabilities

3.0
443.4
6

12.8 
412.6 
7.1

7.8 
24.5
355.5
31.8
107.5 

26.9 
404.4 
26.9 

Trade payables
Intra-Group debt
Income tax payable

241.5
10

257.0
103.3
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Statement of recognized income and expense

Cash flow analysis

                                                                                                                                                         Group
                                                                                                                                                          IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007

             Tomra Systems ASA
                     NGAAP
2006

Foreign exchange translation differences
Net income recognized directly in equity

(87.7)
(87.7)

(170.3)
(170.3)

Profit for the period
Total recognized income and expense for the period

291.7
121.4		

439.9
352.2

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company
Minority interest
Total recognized income and expense for the period

118.1
3.3
121.4		

344.9
7.3
352.2

Reported minority
Exchange variations minorities
Total

12.1
(8.8)
3.3		

12.7
(5.4)
7.3

                                                                                                Group
                                                                                                 IFRS

                     

2007		

2006

2005		

296.2
(28.2 )
-  
13.1
-  
(43.6 )
(12.5 )
(2.4 )

278.1
(9.2 )
-  
9.8
-  
(14.3 )
(16.5 )
12.1

(93.7 )
-  
-  
7.8
125.3
1.8
18.8
3.9

(10.6 )
-  
-  
-  
126.1
(35.7 )
302.4

(6.4 )
-  
-  
-  
(25.2 )
(43.0 )
185.4 		

(6.3 )
-  
-  
-  
33.5
(41.7 )
49.4 		

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS
Ordinary profit before taxes
Income taxes paid
(Gains)/losses from sales of fixed assets
Ordinary depreciations
Write-down non-current assets
Net change in inventory
Net change in receivables
Net change in payables
Difference between booked costs on pension
funds and actual cash payments to these funds
Exchange rate effects
Profit before tax from affiliated companies
Dividend from affiliated companies
Changes in other balance sheet items
Interest income/expense
Net cash flow from operating activities

-  
-  
-  
(8.8 )
-  
(8.8 )

-  
0.8
-   163.5
2.0
(125.4 )
(14.4 )
(8.9 )
-  
-  
(12.4 )
30.0 		

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sales of non-current assets
Disposal of subsidiary
Acquisition of subsidiary
Net investments in non-current assets
Proceeds from sales of shares
Net cash flow from investing activities

14.4
-  
-  
(157.3)
-  
(142.9)

89.5
27.1
3.2   112.2
(112.8) (111.3 )
(234.9) (204.6 )
2.6
0.1
(252.4) (176.5 )

(6.2 )
-  
-  
50.0
-  
-  
(408.3 )
7.1
54.3
(18.6 )
-  
(64.7 )
(386.4 )

(78.6 )
(51.6 )
-  
-  
(2.5 )
(5.0 )
325.0
-  
-  
-  
-  
-  
(421.7 ) (211.1 )
6.4
-  
51.2
45.6
(8.2 )
(3.9 )
(33.5 )
-  
(60.8 ) (321.3 )
(222.7 ) (547.3 )

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loan payments (to)/from subsidiaries
Payment of long term loans
Repayment of long-term loans
Proceeds from issuance of long term debt
Dividend minorities
Net change bank overdraft
Purchase of treasury shares
Sale of treasury shares
Interest received
Interest paid
Option payments
Dividend paid
Net cash flow from financing activities

-   
(18.0)
50.0
(12.7)
-  
(408.3)
7.1
4.7
(19.6)
-  
(64.7)
(461.5)

-  
(26.2 )
(13.0)
-  
325.0
-  
(16.7)
(12.1 )
(25.7)
4.6
(421.7) (211.1 )
6.4
-  
4.8
14.1
(3.0)
(2.0 )
(93.8)
-  
(60.8) (321.3 )
(298.5) (554.0 )

Currency effect on cash
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents per 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents per 31 December

(17.3)
(95.6)
286.4
190.8

1.6  
8.5
(205.0) (491.6 )
491.4
983.0
286.4   491.4

          

(92.8 )
209.2
116.4

(49.7 )
258.9
209.2

-  
(467.9 )
726.8
258.9

Amounts in NOK million

2007		

2006

2005

442.3
(144.4)
-  
154.0
6.9
(36.8)
28.4
3.3

656.2
(91.5)
(8.2)
162.2
11.2
(198.4)
(316.0)
45.0  

147.5
(23.9 )
(0.2 )
139.7
37.2
(2.1 )
(59.4 )
31.0

(10.6)
18.7
(1.9)
1.4
49.9
14.9
526.1

(6.4)
(6.0)
(1.7)
1.3
98.4
(1.8)
344.3

(6.3 )
(8.2 )
(2.0 )
1.9
(12.7 )
(12.1 )
230.4

From 1 January 2007 TOMRA has changed its principle for classification of interest in the cash flow statement.
According to IFRS 7.31 and NRS(F) Cash Flow 2.6 we have chosen to show interest as cash flow from financing activities.
The amounts from 2005 and 2006 have been reclassified with the following effects:
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2006
2005
						
(43.0 )
(41.7)

2006
Cash flow from operating activities: 			
Interest income/expense
(1.8 )

(12.1 )

				
51.2
(8.2 )

Cash flow from financing activities: 			
Interest received
4.8
Interest paid
(3.0 )

14.1
(2.0 )

45.6
(3.9)

2005
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Consolidation and accounting principles
Group - IFRS
Reporting structure

General
Business concept and customers
Tomra Systems ASA (the “Company”) is a company
domiciled in Norway. TOMRA designs and operates
cost-effective systems for recovering packaging and
other used material for reuse and recycling. Added
value is created for each customer through
excellence in service and innovation.
TOMRA’s customers are mainly located in Europe
and North America.
Significant accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2007
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the
Group’s interest in associates. The financial
statements consist of the income statement,
statement of recognized income and expense,
balance sheet, cash flow statement and notes to
the accounts.  
The financial statements were authorized for issue
by the Directors on February 20th 2008, and will be
presented for final approval in the general meeting
on April 23rd 2008. Until the final approval by the
general meeting, the board can change the
financial report.
(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and appropriate
interpretations as adopted by EU, The Norwegian
Accounting Act and stock exchange regulations.
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are presented in NOK,
rounded to the nearest one hundred thousand.
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The Group’s consolidated amounts
comprise the following units:

They are prepared based on the fundamental
principles governing historical cost accounting,
comparability, continuing operations and
congruence. Transactions are recorded at their
value at the time of transaction. Income is recognized at the time of delivery of goods or services
sold. Costs are expensed in the same period as the
income to which they relate is recognized.
The financial statements are prepared based on
historical cost, except for financial instruments
recognized at fair value through profit or loss.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with IFRS requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expense. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of determining carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements.
The accounting policies have been applied
consistently by each Group entitiy.

Tomra Systems ASA
Europe
Tomra Europe AS (N)
Tomra Butikksystemer AS (N)
Tomra Systems AB (S)
OY Tomra AB (FIN)
Tomra System AS (DK)
Tomra Systems BV (NL)
Tomra Systems GmbH (D)
Tomra Leergutsysteme GmbH (A)
Tomra Systems SA (F)
Tomra AG (SWI) (50.5 %)
Tomra Systems NV (BEL)
B-burken AB (S)
Tomra s.r.o (CHE) (40%)
Halton System GmbH (D)
Tomra Baltic OÜ (Est) (40%)
Tomra Production AS (N)
Retail Services GmbH (D)
Titech Visionsort AS (N)
Titech Visionsort GmbH (D)
Titech Visionsort Espana (E)
Titech Visionsort Limited (UK)
QVision AS (N)
Commodas Mining GmbH (D)
Orwak Group AB (S)
Presona AB (S)
Morinders Verkstäder AB (S)
Compactus AB (S)
Presona GmbH (D)
Orwak Danmark AS (DK)
Orwak Polen ZPZOO (P)
Tomra Systems Ltd. (UK)
North America
Tomra North America Inc. (CT)
Tomra Systems Inc. (CAN)
Tomra Metro LLC (CT, NY)
Mobile Redemp. Inc. (CT, MA)
BICS LLC (72%) (NY)
TNYR LLC (70%) (NY)
Upstate Tomra LLC (55%)
Tomra Mass. (55%)  (MA)
Halton System Inc. (ME)
Les Systems Inc. (CAN)
Camco Recycling Inc. (CAN)
Tomra Canada Inc (CAN)
Tomra Pacific Inc. (CA)
UBCR (51%) (MI)
UltrePET LLC (49%)
Orwak LLC (CT)
Asia
Tomra Japan Asia Pacific KK (JAP)
Titech Visionsort Co., Ltd. (KOR)
Tomra AG (SWI) was discontinued in 2006,
see also note 14. B-burken AB (S)
was liquidated in 2007.

Consolidation 
principles

Valuation and Classification 
Principles

(a) Consolidated companies
The consolidated accounts include the parent
company Tomra Systems ASA and companies
in which the parent company has a controlling
influence.  Subsidiaries acquired or sold during
the course of the year are included in the profit
and loss statement as of the date of purchase,
or up to and including the date of sale.

Estimations
The preparation of the annual accounts of
TOMRA involves the use of estimates. The
estimates are based on a number of
assumptions and forecasts that, by their
nature, involve uncertainty. Various
factors could cause TOMRA’s actual results
to differ materially from those projected in
the estimates. This includes, but is not limited
to: 1) cash flow forecast from business units
supporting the carrying amount of goodwill and
deferred tax assets, 2) provisions for warranty,
3) assumptions for calculation of pension
obligation.

(b) Elimination of shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are eliminated on
the basis of the past equity method.  The
difference between the book value of shares
in subsidiaries and book value of the
subsidiaries’ equity at the time such shares
were acquired is analyzed and posted to
the balance sheet items to which the excess
amounts relate.  Goodwill represents the
excess of the purchase price paid for
acquisitions above net assets acquired and
is tested for impairment at least annually.
(c) Currency translation for foreign
subsidiaries
The profit and loss statements for foreign
subsidiaries prepared in foreign currencies are
translated on the basis of average exchange
rates for the year.  The balance sheet is
converted on the basis of the exchange rates
on December 31. Translation differences are
shown as a separate item and charged directly
to the Group’s equity.
When foreign subsidiaries are sold, completely
or partially, the associated translation
difference is recognized in the profit and loss.
(d) Minority interests
The minority interests’ share of the net profit
and equity are classified as separate items
in the profit and loss statement and balance
sheet.
(e) Changed ownership in subsidiaries
With successive acquisitions in subsidiaries, fair
values of assets and liabilities are established
the first time consolidation takes place. Fair
values of assets and liabilities are not adjusted
on subsequent acquisitions, with the exception
of goodwill, which is analyzed at the time of
each purchase. Additional goodwill is charged
to equity.
(f) Internal transactions/intercompany items
All purchases and sales between Group
companies, intra Group expenses, as well as
receivables and liabilities have been eliminated
in the consolidated statements.
(g) Associates
Associates, in which TOMRA has an
ownership interest of 20-50% and significant
influence over operational and financial
decisions, are included in the consolidated
accounts based on the equity method. The
Group’s share of the profit from associates is
reported under financial items in the income
statement.

(a) Revenue recognition
Revenue on product sales and sales-type
leases of the company’s products is generally
recognized at the time of installation.  Revenue
on service contracts and operating leases of
the company’s products is recognized over
the terms of the related agreements.  Other
service revenue is recognized when services
are provided.
(b) Cost recognition
Costs are expensed in the same period as
the income to which they relate is recognized.
Costs that can not be directly related to
income are expensed as incurred.
(c) Expenses
Operating lease payments
Payments made under operating leases are
recognized in the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received are recognized in
the income statement as an integral part of the
total lease expense.
Finance lease payments
Minimum lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and the reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance charge is
allocated to each period during the lease term
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Net financing costs
Net financing costs comprise interest
payable on borrowings calculated using the
effective interest rate method, interest
receivable on funds invested, dividend income,
foreign exchange gains and losses, and gains
and losses on hedging instruments that are
recognized in the income statement.
Interest income is recognized in the income
statement as it accrues, using the
effective interest method. Dividend income
is recognized in the income statement on the
date the entity’s right to receive payments is
established. The interest expense component
of finance lease payments is recognized in the
income statement using the effective interest
rate method.
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(d) Derivative financial instruments
When qualifying for hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39, the effective portion of the gain
or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized
directly in equity, while any ineffective portion is
recognized immediately in the income statement.
Amounts taken to equity are transferred to the
income statement when the hedging transaction
affects the income statement, such as when the
hedged sale occurs. Cash flow hedging in
accordance with IAS39 has only been applied
once in 2006, see disclosure note 18.
All other derivative financial instruments are recognized initially at cost and are subsequently stated
at fair value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to
fair value is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
(e) Property, plant and equipment
Owned assets
Items of property, plant and equipment are entered
in the accounts at original cost, with deductions for
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
If the fair value of an item of property, plant and
equipment is lower than book value, and the decline
in value is not temporary, the asset will be written
down to fair value. Based on the acquisition cost,
straight-line depreciation is applied over the economic life of the non-current assets. When relevant,
the acquisition cost includes future dismantling cost.
Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant
and equipment.
Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance leases. The owneroccupied property acquired by way of finance lease
is stated at an amount equal to the lower of its fair
value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments at inception of the lease, less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Subsequent costs
The Group recognizes in the carrying amount of
an item of property, plant and equipment the cost
of replacing part of such an item when that cost is
incurred if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other costs are recognized in the income
statement as an expense as incurred.
(f) Intangible assets
Intangibles consist of goodwill, development cost,
entitlement to trademarks and non-competition
agreements.  
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Goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by
applying the purchase method. Goodwill represents
amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures. With respect to
business acquisitions that have occurred since
1 January 2004, goodwill represents the difference
between the cost of the acquisition and the fair
value of the net identifiable assets acquired. With
respect to acquisitions prior to this date, goodwill
is included on the basis of its deemed cost, which
represents the amount recorded under previous
GAAP. The classification and accounting treatment
of business combinations that occurred prior to
1 January 2004 has not been reconsidered in
preparing the Group’s opening IFRS balance sheet

at 1 January 2004.
Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cashgenerating units and is no longer amortized but
is tested annually for impairment. With respect
to associates, the carrying amount of goodwill is
included in the carrying amount of the investment in
the associate.
Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with
the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical
knowledge and understanding, is recognized in the
income statement as an expense as incurred.
Expenditure on development activities, whereby
research findings are applied to a plan or design
for the production of new or substantially improved
products and processes, is capitalized if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible
and the Group has sufficient resources to complete
development. The expenditure capitalized includes
the cost of materials, direct labor and overhead
costs directly attributable to preparing the asset for
use. Other development expenditure is recognized
in the income statement as an expense as incurred.
Capitalized development expenditure is stated at
cost less accumulated amortization and impairment
losses.
We have not received any material government grants.
Other intangibles
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortization and impairment losses. Other
intangibles are amortized over the term of the
contract. Impairment-testing was performed at year
end where there were indications of impairment,
see note 9.
Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognized in the income statement as an
expense as incurred.
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalized intangible
assets is capitalized only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is
expensed as incurred.
(g) Shares
Shares intended for long-term ownership are
recorded in the balance sheet under long-term
investments.  These are valued at acquisition cost,
unless circumstances, which cannot be regarded
as of a temporary nature, exist which necessitate a
lower valuation.

incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing
them to their existing location and condition. In
the case of manufactured inventories and work in
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of
overheads based on normal operating capacity.
(i) Receivables and liabilities
in foreign currencies
Receivables and liabilities are booked at the
exchange rate at the date of the balance sheet.
(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
bank deposits, money market funds, and other
short-term investments with original maturity of
three months or less. The parent company presents
total bank deposits in the international cash pool,
while the subsidiaries present their share of the
international cash pool as intra-group balances.
(k) Pension obligations
Pension obligations related to insured pension, as
well as the pension premium reserve, are included
in the balance sheet using the net principle. See
Note 16 for further details concerning pension
obligations.
Defined benefit plans
The Group’s net obligation with respect to defined
benefit pension plans is calculated separately
for each plan by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have earned in return for
their service in the current and prior periods. This
benefit is discounted to determine its present value,
and any unrecognized past service costs and their
fair value of any plan assets are deducted. The
discount rate is equal to the recommendation from
the Norwegian Accounting Standards Board, since
there are no factors indicating a deviation from the
recommendation. The calculation is performed by
a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method. When the calculation results in a benefit to
the Group, the recognized asset is limited to the net
total of any unrecognized past service costs and the
present value of any future refunds from the plan or
reductions in future contributions to the plan.
When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service
by employees is recognized in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the average period until the
benefits become vested. To the extent that the
benefits vest immediately, the expense is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.
Actuarial gains and losses are required to be
recognized when the cumulative unrecognized
amount thereof at the beginning of the period
exceeds a “corridor.” The corridor is 10 percent of
the greater of the present value of the obligation
and the fair value of the assets. The corridor is
calculated separately for each plan.
Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a plan where TOMRA
pays a fixed contribution to a pension fund and
where TOMRA has no obligation to pay anything
more than the contribution. The contribution is
recognized as employee benefits expenses in profit
and loss.

(h) Inventory
Inventories of raw materials are valued at the
lower of the cost of acquisition and the fair value.  
Work in progress and finished products are valued
at the lower of the cost to manufacture or net
realizable value.  Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion
and selling expenses. Spare parts and parts held
by service agents are valued at cost.  A deduction
is made for obsolescence where necessary.

(l) Warranty allocations
A general provision has been made for future warranty costs based on the previous year’s turnover in
all Group companies.

The cost of inventories is based on the weighted
average cost principle and includes expenditure

(m) Taxes

The tax charge in the income statement includes
both taxes payable for the period and the change
in deferred taxes.  The change in deferred taxes
reflects future taxes payable resulting from the
year’s activities.  Deferred taxes are determined
based on the accumulated result, which falls due
for payment in future periods.  Deferred taxes
are calculated on net positive timing differences
between accounting and tax balance sheet values,
after offsetting negative timing differences and
losses carried forward under the liability method.
See Note 10 “Taxes.”
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realized.
(n) Earnings per share
Earnings per share have been computed based
upon the weighted average number of common
shares and share equivalents outstanding during
each period.  Common share equivalent recognizes
the potential dilutive effects of future exercises of
common share warrants and employee incentive
programs payable in company shares.
(o) Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is compiled using the
indirect method. Cash and cash equivalents include
cash, bank deposits and other short-term investments with terms not exceeding three months that
can immediately, and with no material exchange
rate exposure, be exchanged for cash.
(p) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets,
other than inventory and deferred tax assets (see
separate accounting policies), are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to determine whether there is
any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
For goodwill, assets that have an indefinite useful
life and intangible assets that are not yet available
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated on an
annual basis, ref. note 9.

reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization,
if no impairment loss had been recognized.
(q) Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the period
in which they are declared.
(r) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognized initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any
difference between cost and redemption value
being recognized in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings on an effective interest
basis.
(s) Share-based payment transactions
The share option program allows Group employees
to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value
of options granted is recognized as an employee
expense with a corresponding increase in equity.
The fair value is measured at grant date and
spread over the period during which the employees
become unconditionally entitled to the options.
The fair value of the options granted is measured
using an option pricing model based on the Black &
Scholes-formula, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted.
The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted
to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest except where forfeiture is only due to share
prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.
(t) Provisions
A provision is recognized in the balance sheet
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is
material, provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the liability.

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are recognized in the income statement.

(u) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.

Impairment losses recognized in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
cash-generating units (group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in
the unit (group of units), on a pro rata basis.

(v) Segment reporting
A segment is a distinguishable component of the
Group that is engaged either in providing products
or services (business segment), or in providing
products or services within a particular economic
environment (geographical segment), which is
subject to risks and rewards that are different from
those of other segments.

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of assets is the greater
of their net selling price and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does
not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs.

Segment information is presented for both business
segments and geographical segments, with
business segments as the primary segment.
(w) Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation is a component of the
Group’s business that represents a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations
or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view
to resale.

upon disposal or when the operation meets the
criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.
A disposal group that is to be abandoned may also
qualify.
On initial classification as discontinued operations,
non-current assets are classified as held for sale
and recognized at the lower of carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell.
Impairment losses on initial classification as held
for sale are included in profit or loss, even when
there is a revaluation. The same applies to gains
and losses on subsequent remeasurement.
(x) Business combinations involving entities
under common control
A business combination involving entities or
businesses under common control is a business
combination in which all of the combining entities
or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same
party or parties both before and after the business
combination, and that control is not transitory.
In the absence of more specific guidance, the
Group consistently applied the book value
measurement method to all common control
transactions.
(y) Share Capital
Ordinary shares
Incremental costs directly attributable to issue of
ordinary shares and share options are recognized
as a deduction from equity.
Preference share capital
Preference share capital is classified as equity if
it is non-redeemable, or redeemable only at the
Company’s option, and any dividends are
discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized
as distributions within equity.
Preference share capital is classified as a liability if
it is redeemable on a specific date or at the option
of the shareholders, or if dividend payments are not
discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognized as
interest expense in profit or loss.
Repurchase of share capital
When share capital recognized as equity is
repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid,
including directly attributable costs, is recognized
as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares
are classified as treasury shares and are presented
as a deduction from total equity.
(z) New standards and interpretations
not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not effective for the
year ended 31 December 2007, and have not been
applied in preparing these consolidated financial
statements:
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
Revised IAS 23 Borrowing costs
Revised IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 The limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction.

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss relative to goodwill is not
reversed.  
With respect to other assets, an impairment loss is

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
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Notes

Note 1

Accounting principles

Segment information
TOMRA GROUP - IFRS

Tomra Systems ASA - NGAAP
Amounts in NOK million

General
BASIC PRINCIPLES
The financial statements, which have been
presented in compliance with the Norwegian
Companies Act, the Norwegian Accounting
Act and Norwegian generally accepted
accounting principles, consist of the profit
and loss statement, balance sheet, cash
flow statement and notes to the accounts.
The financial statements have been
prepared based on the fundamental
principles governing historical cost
accounting, comparability, continued
operations and congruence.  Transactions
are recorded at their value at the time of
the transaction.  Income is recognized at
the time of delivery of goods or services
sold. Costs are expensed in the same
period as the income to which they
relate is recognized.
Estimates and assumptions that may
affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the period,
are prepared by management based upon
their best knowledge at reporting date.
Actual results may differ from those
estimates.
Valuation and Classification
Principles
REVENUE RECOGNITION
Machines and parts are sold Ex-works,
and revenues are recognized when risk is
transferred to the customer. Other service
revenue is recognized when services are
provided.
COST RECOGNITION
Costs are expensed in the same period as
the income to which they relate is
recognized. Costs that can not be directly
related to income are expensed as incurred.
START-UP AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS
Start-up and research and development
costs are expensed as they are incurred.
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TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
Fixed assets are entered in the accounts
at original cost, with deductions for
accumulated depreciation and write-down.
If the fair value of a fixed asset is lower than
book value, and the decline in value is not
temporary, the fixed asset will be written
down to fair value. Based on the acquisition
cost, straight-line depreciation is applied
over the economic life of the fixed assets.
SHARES
Shares intended for long-term ownership
are recorded in the balance sheet under
long-term investments.  These are valued
at acquisition cost unless circumstances,
which cannot be regarded as of a
temporary nature, exist which necessitate
a lower valuation.
RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES IN
FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Receivables and liabilities are booked at
the exchange rate at the date of the balance
sheet. Long term loans to subsidiaries in
foreign currency are considered part of the
net investment, and are booked at cost in
NOK.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, bank deposits, money market funds,
and other short-term investments with
original maturity of three months or less.
Tomra Systems ASA presents total bank
deposits in the international cash pool, while
subsidiaries present their share of the international cash pool as intra-group balances.
PENSION OBLIGATIONS
Pension obligations related to insured pensions, as well as the pension premium
reserve, are included in the balance sheet
using the net principle. Ref. note 16.
Actuarial gains and losses are required to
be recognized when the cumulative
unrecognized amount thereof at the
beginning of the period exceeds a “corridor.”

The corridor is 10 percent of the greater of
the present value of the obligation and the
fair value of the assets. The corridor is
calculated separately for each plan.
TAXES
The tax charge in the profit and loss
account includes both taxes payable for the
period and the change in deferred taxes.  
The change in deferred taxes reflects future
taxes payable resulting from the year’s
activities.  Deferred taxes are determined
based on the accumulated result, which
falls due for payment in future periods.  
Deferred taxes are calculated on net
positive timing differences between
accounting and tax balance sheet values,
after offsetting negative timing differences
and losses carried forward under the liability
method in accordance with the rules set out
in the Norwegian Accounting Standard.  
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The cash flow statement is compiled
using the indirect method. Cash and cash
equivalents include cash, bank deposits and
other short-term investments with terms not
exceeding three months that immediately,
and with no material exchange rate
exposure, can be exchanged for cash.
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The share option program allows Group
employees to acquire shares of the
Company. The fair value of options granted
is recognized as an employee expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date and spread
over the period during which the
employees become unconditionally entitled
to the options. The fair value of the options
granted is measured using an option pricing
model based on the Black & Scholesformula, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were
granted. The amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual
number of share options that vest, except
where forfeiture is only due to share prices
not achieving the threshold for vesting.

2005
Nordic
Central Europe
Rest of Europe
US East & Canada
US West
Rest of the world
Operating revenues
Gross contribution
- in %
Operating expenses
Profit before other items
- in %

Collection
Technology
Deposit
Solutions
377
433
373
1,183 
541
46 %
424
117 
10 %

Share of profit from associates
2
Investments
109
Investments in associates
0
Assets
1,226 
Liabilities
465
Depreciations
86
Impairment losses recognized in P&L
37
Other significant non-cash expenses
10
2006
Nordic
Central Europe & UK
Rest of Europe
US East & Canada
US West
Rest of the world
Operating revenues
Gross contribution
- in %
Operating expenses
Profit before other items
- in %

469
379

40
 379 
174
46 %
137
37 
10 %

0
72
44
694
118
41
0
13

0
142
0
477
70
12
0
3

391

500
521

2,429 
981
40 %
417
564 
23 %

1,021
221
22 %
120
101
10 %
0
103
41
700
93
49
0
0

611
792
326
2
1,731
754
44 %
409
345 
20 %

Share of profit from associates
2
Investments
71
Investments in associates
1
Assets
1,297 
Liabilities
 550
Depreciations
 94 
Impairment losses recognized in P&L
0
Other significant non-cash expenses
0
TOMRA has divided its primary reporting
format into four business segments: Collection
Technology Deposit Solutions, Materials
Handling, Industrial Processing Technology and
Collection Technology Non-Deposit Solutions.
In addition the corporate overhead costs are
reported in a separate column. The split is based
upon the risk and return profile of the Group’s
different activities, also taking into consideration
TOMRA’s internal reporting structure.
Collection Technology Deposit Solutions
consists of the sale, lease and servicing
of RVMs to stores in Europe and North America,
and data management systems, which monitor
container collection volumes and related
cash flow.
Materials Handling consists of pick-ups,
transport and processing of empty beverage

463
601
1,064 
220
21 %
115
105 
10 %
0
69
35
 623 
 59 
 44 
0
0

Group
functions

TOTAL

83
203
30
23

848 
196
23 %
131
65 
8 %

422
1,616

Share of profit from associates
2
Investments
109
Investments in associates
0
Assets
1,545
Liabilities
564
Depreciations
98
Impairment losses recognized in P&L
11
Other significant non-cash expenses
0
2007
Nordic
Central Europe & UK
Rest of Europe
US East & Canada
US West
Rest of the world
Operating revenues
Gross contribution
- in %
Operating expenses
Profit before other items
- in %

Materials
Handling

Collection
Industrial Technology
Processing Non-Deposit
Technology
Solutions

65
262
87
31
59
 504 
240
48 %
161
79 
16 %
0
155
0
698
114
15
0
0
78
300
107
34
24
104
 647 
321
50 %
220
101
16 %
0
14
0
 696 
133 
15 
7
0

460
636
30
865
379
43

3
 3
0

0
2
0
5
2
0
0
0

188
9
0
118
9
0

1,214
624
0
942
172
9

195
14
0
148
9
5

1,345
345
0
809
194
15

45
4
0
96
9
3

0
2
0
325
0
44
 592  2,994 
97
752
0
140
0
37
0
26
487
1,885
87
922
521
63

7

3,965 
0

64
(73 )

16
(16 )

0
5
0
18
2
1
0
0

0
0
0
349
500
0
0
0

1,433
36 %
778
655 
17 %
2
371
41
3,310
1,273
162
11
0
689
1,130
107
823
625
116

38

10
 48  0
(13 )

886
303
0
1,040
168
5

0 2,413 
0
911
38 %
20
778
(20 )
133 
6 %

66
(66 )

4
11 0
(9 )

Assets Investments

3,490
0

77
(90 )
0
3

16
(16 )

0
0
0
 92   244  2,952
 21  509  1,272
1 0
154
0
0
0
0

containers on behalf of beverage producers/
fillers in US East and Canada. In addition the
segment includes the collection activities in
California, where TOMRA owns and operates
collection centers outside stores.
Industrial Processing Technology consists of
TiTech Visionsort/Commodas, which produces
optical sorting systems, and Orwak Group, a
leading provider of compaction solutions for
recyclables such as cardboard, paper and
plastics.
Collection Techonology Non-Deposit Solutions
consists of other non-deposit development
areas such as Japan and UK. The segment
includes the activities related to the
development of the Tomra Automated Recycling
Center (ARC), a fully automated low cost
recycling center for non-deposit markets.

1,282
37 %
837
445 
13 %
2
157
36

7
0
Group functions consists of corporate functions
at TOMRA headquarters.
Assets and liabilities are distributed to the
different reporting segments, except for cash,
interest-bearing debt and tax positions, which
are allocated to Group functions.
There is no material segment revenue from
transactions with other segments.
The income from service activities was NOK
850 million of total NOK 3,490 million in 2007.
The income from service activities was in 2006
and 2005 respectively NOK 772 million and
NOK 572 million of total income of respectively
NOK 3,965 million and NOK 2,413 million.
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Note 2

Inventory/cost of goods sold
                         Tomra Systems ASA
                                  NGAAP
2006
2005
2007

Note 5
                                                                                                               Group
                                                                                                                IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007
2006

COST OF GOODS SOLD
530.9
1,135.0
332.3    Cost of goods sold, gross
1,633.7
-   
-  
-  
Change in inventory
1.7
530.9
1,135.0
332.3
Cost of goods sold, net
1,635.4
						
Cost of goods sold includes adjustment of inventory write-down of minus NOK 1.2 million
(2006: minus NOK 6.3 million) for the parent company and NOK 4.4 million (2006: NOK 2.0 million) for the group.  
-   
-   
61.1
-   
61.1
-  

-  
-  
17.5
-  
17.5 		
-  

INVENTORY
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Spare parts
Total inventory
Inventory stated at fair value less costs to sell

1,809.7
156.6
1,966.3

124.1
10.2
182.6
212.0
529.1

121.2
10.9
194.1
198.3
524.5

-

10.9

2005
989.9
29.9
1,019.8

Contingent liabilities
EU Commission
In September 2004, TOMRA received the EU Commission’s Statement
of Objections (SO) relating to the EU Commission investigation in 2001.
The Commission was of the opinion that TOMRA had exploited its
dominant market position in several European markets by entering into
certain supply agreements with customers. The alleged abuse is partly
due to having entered into exclusive purchase agreements with
customers and partly due to use of loyalty rebate schemes.

Consequently, the Commission decided to fine TOMRA EUR 24 million.

In November 2004, TOMRA filed its written response to the Statement of
Objections where TOMRA rejected the Commission’s arguments.

Sale of Tomra South America SA
Tomra Systems ASA has in connection to the sale of Tomra South
America SA in 2005 given warranties in line with what is normal in such
transactions. If the warranties are breached, Tomra Systems ASA has to
indemnify the buyer, limited upwards to USD 5 million.

The EU Commission concluded in March 2006 that TOMRA in their opinion had foreclosed competition in the period 1998 to 2002 on the market
for reverse vending machines in Austria, Germany, the Netherlands,
Norway and Sweden by implementing an exclusionary strategy.

TOMRA has appealed the decision into the European Court of Justice.
The court case is expected to take place during 2008.
Supported by legal opinions, TOMRA believes it is more likely than not
that we will win the appeal. Consequently, no accrual has been made in
the balances as of December 31st related to the penalty.

Please also see disclosure note 12.

Inventories are not subject to rentention of title clauses.

Note 6

Note 3

Employee benefits expenses
   Tomra Systems ASA
             NGAAP
2006
2005
2007

                                                                                                            Group
                                                                                                              IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007
2006

2005

96.7
20.6
11.1
4.3
132.7

90.9
17.7
14.7
4.0
127.3

94.1
20.8
14.2
7.7
3.9
140.7

Salary
Social security tax
Pension cost
Equity-settled transactions1)
Other social expenses
Total employee benefits expenses

733.1
119.8
26.2
27.7
906.8

695.7
117.1
23.8
(1.0)
26.6
862.2

629.6
95.7
21.6
25.5
22.2
794.6

137

132

132

Number of man-years

2,020

2,006

1,920

  Tomra Systems ASA
   NGAAP
2007
2006
2005
202.5
202.5

30.8
30.8

92.4
28.0
120.4

54.3
12.8
67.1

51.2
0.8
52.0

45.6
3.7
49.3

18.6
1.9
20.5

8.2
2.3
10.5

3.9
2.2
6.1

                                                                                                             Group
                                                                                                             IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007
2006
Dividend from subsidiaries
Group contributions from subsidiaries
Dividend from subsidiaries

0.0

0.0

Interest income1)
Foreign exchange gain
Total financial income

4.7
12.8
17.5

4.8
0.8
5.6

14.1
3.6
17.7

Interest expenses
Other financial expenses
Total financial expenses

19.6
2.6
22.2

3.0
3.0
6.0

2.0
3.2
5.2

1)

1) Interest income and expenses for the parent company includes interest income and expenses from subsidiaries of NOK 44.0 million
(2006: NOK 48.8 million) and NOK 4.2 million (2006: 5.9 million) respectively.
Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
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2005

0.0

                                                                                                                                        Group
                                                                                                                                         IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007

			
375.0
325.0
-   
-   
14.9
-   
389.9
325.0

Non-current liabilities		
Unsecured bank loans
375.8
Finance lease obligation
-   
Other non-current interest-bearing liabilities
34.3
Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities
410.1

0.0

			
-   
-   
-   
-   
5.8
-   
5.8
0.0

Due more than 5 years after balance day

2006
336.9
-   
35.4
372.3

0.0

0.0

Current liabilities		
Current portion of finance lease liabilities
-   
Current portion of unsecured bank loans
-   
Other current interest-bearing liabilities
7.1
Total current interest-bearing liabilities
7.1

-   
7.8
-   
7.8

Tomra Systems ASA established in October 2006 a revolving bilateral five-year credit facility of NOK 500 million. As of 31 December 2007, NOK 375
million was drawn on the facility. The loan has floating rate of interest, and has been submitted with a negative pledge commitment. The loan agreement
comprises an equity covenant, equal to 40% of total assets, measured at the end of each quarter.

Note 7

Financial Items

            Tomra Systems ASA
                      NGAAP
2006
2007

0.0

1) Ref. note 19

Note 4

Interest-bearing liabilities

Receivables
            Tomra Systems ASA
                      NGAAP
2006
2007

                                                                                                                                        Group
                                                                                                                                         IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007

13.1
675.1
605.4
24.7
25.7
              (50.1)               (0.4)
662.8
630.7

Trade receivables, gross
739.3
824.1
Intra group short-term receivables
1)
151.8
158.7
Other short-term receivables, gross
Provision for bad debt                                                                                               (6.5)                  (10.2)
Total receivables
884.6
972.6

2006

1) Other short-term receivables includes forward contracts of NOK 9.1 million.
Total bad debt written-off in 2007 amounted to NOK 49.7 million (2006: NOK 0.0 million) for the parent company and NOK 7.1 million
(2006: NOK 3.2 million) for the Group. Bad debt written off is reported as other operating expenses. Receivables with due dates more than one year
after the balance date, are reported as non-current assets.
Trade receivables fall due:
Amounts in NOK million			
Not due yet
0 - 30 days
31- 60 days
61 - 90 days
Older than 90 days
Total trade receivables			

2007
219.7
391.6
65.2
23.2
39.5
739.3

2006
236.8
414.8
90.7
24.7
57.1
824.1
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Note 8

Property, Plant and Equipment 
GROUP - IFRS		
Amounts in NOK million		

Land &
buildings4)

Machinery &		Leasing
Fixtures
Vehicles
equipment

Note 8
cont.
Total

Cost						
Balance at 1 January 2005
227.1
428.3
77.5
421.5
Acquisitions through business combinations
0.0
9.9
0.0
5.7
Other acquisitions
13.9
84.2
15.6
51.7
Disposals
(14.8)
(90.6)
(14.6)
(52.6)
18.5
34.6
6.4
54.8
Effect of movements in foreign exchange1)
Balance at 31 December 2005		
244.7
466.4
84.9
481.1

1 154.4
15.6
165.4
(172.6)
114.4
1 277.1

Balance at 1 January 2006
Acquisitions through business combinations
Other acquisitions
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange2)
Balance at 31 December 2006		

244.7
0.0
5.8
(42.3)
(10.9)
197.3

466.4
7.2
114.4
(28.4)
(22.8)
536.8

84.9
0.1
19.9
(11.2)
(4.9)
88.8

481.1
0.0
47.0
(52.3)
(37.5)
438.3

1 277.1
7.3
187.1
(134.2)
(76.1)
1 261.2

Balance at 1 January 2007
Acquisitions through business combinations
Other acquistions
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange3)
Balance at 31 December 2007		

197.3
0.0
7.1
(9.8)
(15.3)
179.3

536.8
0.0
82.5
(3.3)
(44.6)
571.4

88.8
0.0
14.2
(3.4)
(10.4)
89.2

438.3
0.0
29.2
(11.3)
(62.2)
394.0

1 261.2
0.0
133.0
(27.8)
(132.5)
1 233.9

Depreciation and impairment losses						
Balance at 1 January 2005
34.8
256.3
8.9
50.3
Depreciation charge for the year 6)
Disposals
(1.6)
(52.7)
3.7
16.6
Effect of movements in foreign exchange1)
Balance at 31 December 2005		
45.8
270.5

45.2
12.0
(10.1)
2.5
49.6

281.4
50.8
(39.9)
34.8
327.1

617.7
122.0
(104.3)
57.6
693.0

Balance at 1 January 2006
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange2)
Balance at 31 December 2006		

45.8
9.4
(4.4)
(3.0)
47.8

270.5
62.0
(10.9)
(11.0)
310.6

49.6
11.2
(4.6)
(3.0)
53.2

327.1
50.4
(32.0)
(25.1)
320.4

693.0
133.0
(51.9)
(42.1)
732.0

Balance at 1 January 2007
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange3)
Balance at 31 December 2007 		

47.8
7.4
(8.6)
(4.7)
41.9

310.6
65.2
(0.7)
(23.9)
351.2

53.2
11.4
(3.4)
(6.7)
54.5

320.4
44.3
(5.2)
(45.6)
313.9

732.0
128.3
(17.9)
(80.9)
761.5

Depreciation rate5)
Useful life

2-4 %
50 yrs

10-33 %
10 yrs

Carrying amounts						
1 January 2006
198.9
195.9
31 December 2006
149.5
226.2
4)
31 December 2007 		
137.4
220.2

15-33 %
7 yrs

10-20 %
5-10 yrs

35.3
35.6
34.7

154.0
117.9
80.1

584.1
529.2
472.4

0.0
0.0
0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

5.3
0.0
0.0

Property, Plant and Equipment
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP
Amounts in NOK million

Machinery &				
Fixtures
Vehicles
Total

Cost				
Balance at 1 January 2005
85.0
1.3
Acquisitions
8.9
0.0
Disposals
0.0
(1.1)
Balance at 31 December 2005		
93.9
0.2

86.3
8.9
(1.1)
94.1

Balance at 1 January 2006
Acquisitions
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2006		

93.9
0.0
12.7
106.6

0.2
1.7
0.0
1.9

94.1
1.7
12.7
108.5

Balance at 1 January 2007
Acquistions
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2007		

106.6
8.2
0.0
114.8

1.9
0.6
0.2
2.3

108.5
8.8
0.2
117.1

Depreciation and impairment losses
Balance at 1 January 2005
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2005		

67.0
7.8
0.0
74.8

0.5
0.0
(0.3)
0.2

67.5
7.8
(0.3)
75.0

Balance at 1 January 2006
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2006		

74.8
9.7
0.0
84.5

0.2
0.1
0.0
0.3

75.0
9.8
0.0
84.8

Balance at 1 January 2007
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals
Balance at 31 December 2007		

84.5
12.7
0.0
97.2

0.3
0.4
0.2
0.5

84.8
13.1
0.2
97.7

10-33 %
10 yrs

15-33 %
7 yrs

Depreciation rate1)
Useful life

Carrying amounts				
1 January 2006
19.1
0.0
31 December 2006
22.1
1.6
31 December 2007		
17.6
1.8

19.1
23.7
19.4

1) All depreciation plans are linear.
Minimum lease payments under operational lease of offices		
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

2007
10.6
33.0
54.6

2006
10.4
34.4
64.0

Finance leases carrying amounts (as included in total carrying amounts)
1 January 2006
31 December 2006
31 December 2007

0.0
0.0
0.0

5.3
0.0
0.0

1) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2005 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.
2) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2006 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.
3) Exchange rates as of 31 December 2007 are used in calculating tangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.
4) Including land of NOK 19,6 million as of 31 December 2007
5) All depreciation plans are linear.
6) Not including depreciations from discontinued operations of NOK 4.2 million
Minimum lease payments under						
operational lease of offices		
2007
2006
Not later than one year
39.6
39.1
Between one and five years
128.2
144.2
More than five years
98.4
102.1
Leasing equipment						
The companies within the TOMRA group had 7,307 reverse vending machines leased to customers at the end of 2007. The table shows the minimum
leasing income from today’s lease portfolio. In addition to this income, TOMRA will receive income from materials handling, service contracts etc.
Minimum lease income from leasing equipment		
Not later than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years
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2007
41.1
84.1
0.1

2006			
47.0
98.2
0.8
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Note 9

Note 10

Intangible assets
                               
GROUP - IFRS						
Amounts in NOK million		
Goodwill
Development costs
Patents
Other

Total

Cost						
Balance at 1 January 2005
719.3
80.4
10.0
38.5
Acquisitions  through business combinations
101.0
1.8
0.0
0.0
Other acquisitions -internally developed
0.0
35.8
0.0
3.3
Disposals
(190.8)
0.0
0.0
0.0
51.2
0.0
0.0
3.1
Effect of movements in foreign exchange4)
Balance at 31 December 2005 		
680.7
118.0
10.0
44.9

848.2
102.8
39.1
(190.8)
54.3
853.6

Balance at 1 January 2006
Acquisitions through business combinations
Other acquisitions -internally developed
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange5)
Balance at 31 December 2006		

680.7
124.6
0.0
0.0
(29.5)
775.8

118.0
0.0
29.1
0.0
0.5
147.6

10.0
4.8
0.0
0.0
0.0
14.8

44.9
0.0
18.6
0.0
(2.5)
61.0

853.6
129.4
47.7
0.0
(31.5)
999.2

Balance at 1 January 2007
Acquisitions through business combinations
Other acquisitions -internally developed
Disposals 3)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange6)
Balance at 31 December 2007		

775.8
0.0
0.0
(31.3)
(26.7)
717.8

147.6
0.0
12.1
0.0
0.0
159.7

14.8
0.0
2.0
0.0
0.0
16.8

61.0
0.0
10.1
0.0
(5.1)
66.0

999.2
0.0
24.2
(31.3)
(31.8)
960.3

Depreciation and impairment losses						
Balance at 1 January 2005
184.0
21.3
Depreciation charge for the year
0.0
13.8
1)
10.2
16.0
Impairment losses
Disposals
(30.6)
0.0
16.3
0.0
Effect of movements in foreign exchange4)
Balance at 31 December 2005		
179.9
51.1

0.5
1.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
1.5

21.8
2.9
11.0
0.0
2.8
38.5

227.6
17.7
37.2
(30.6)
19.1
271.0

Balance at 1 January 2006
Depreciation charge for the year
Impairment losses1)
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange5)
Balance at 31 December 2006		

179.9
0.0
0.0
0.0
(23.5)
156.4

51.1
24.1
11.2
0.0
0.3
86.7

1.5
1.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
3.0

38.5
3.7
0.0
0.0
(1.9)
40.3

271.0
29.3
11.2
0.0
(25.1)
286.4

Balance at 1 January 2007
Depreciation charge for the year
Impairment losses1)
Disposals
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 6)
Balance at 31 December 2007		

156.4
0.0
5.0
0.0
(9.5)
151.9

86.7
20.0
1.9
0.0
0.2
108.8

3.0
1.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
4.7

40.3
4.0
0.0
(0.9)
2.5
45.9

286.4
25.7
6.9
(0.9)
(6.8)
311.3

14-33 %
3-7 yrs

10 %
10 yrs

5-33 %
3-20 yrs

Depreciation rate2)
Useful life

0 %
Indefinite

Carrying amounts						
1 January 2006
500.8
66.9
31 December 2006
619.4
60.9
31 December 2007		
565.9
50.9

8.5
11.8
12.1

6.4
20.7
20.1

2007
-   
5.0
5.0

2006
-   
-   
0.0

TAXES						
Taxes payable
129.9
176.7
Over accrued tax last year
Net change in deferred taxes
20.7
39.6
Tax expense
150.6 		 216.3 		
140.5
10.1
150.6

31.8
0.0
2.3
34.0

%
%
%
%

202.4
31.8
(17.9)
216.3

30.9
4.8
-2.7
33.0

%
%
%
%

62.5
(7.3)
55.2
57.6 39.0 %
(2.8) -1.9 %
0.4
0.3 %
55.2 37.4 %

             Tomra Systems ASA
                       NGAAP
2006		
2007
				
0.3
0.3
11.9
(0.4)
20.7
15.6
1.1
(0.1)
(22.9)
(10.2)
7.1
3.9
5.1
5.1
(0.8)
2.2
22.5
16.4 		

                                                                           Group
                                                                            IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007
2006		
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS					
Inventory
34.9
39.5
Other current assets
13.0
3.6
Intangible non-current assets
6.3
(9.9)
Tangible non-current assets
3.0
(26.8)
Financial non-current assets
(23.0)
(7.8)
Provisions
8.2
5.4
Other current liabilities
8.5
14.7
Pension reserves
(0.8)
2.2
Loss carried forward
2.7
42.1
Total tax advantage
52.8
63.0

						

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES					
Inventory
(2.0)
Other current assets
17.0
2.6
Intangible non-current assets
25.6
3.4
Tangible non-current assets
5.4
13.8
Provisions
(9.8)
Loss carried forward
(5.9)
Total deferred tax liabilities
30.3
19.8

Negative and positive timing differences, which reverse or may reverse in the same period, are offset. Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of
timing differences and losses carried forward which are offset. Timing differences between different subsidiaries have not been offset. During the period that
these differences reverse, the companies will have a taxable net income that is sufficient to realize the deferred tax allowance. The loss carried forward is
all in countries where we have taxable profit in 2007, and expect taxable profit in the future as well. All loss carried forward is due after 2010.

582.6
712.8
649.0

There has not been any material effects in either deferred tax or tax expenses for the year, related to changes in tax rates in the jurisdictions Tomra
operates.

Note 11

2006
124.4
17.4
66.2
313.1
98.4
619.4

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is based on value in use calculations. Those calculations use cash flow projections based on actual
operating results and the five-year business plan including a residual value. A growth rate is not used on the predicted cash flows. A pre-tax discount rate of
10.1 percent has been used in discounting the projected cash flows, based upon a 10 year risk free interest rate of 4.7 + 5.4 in risk premium.
An impairment loss of NOK 5 million was recognized for the goodwill of Presona AB in 2007. The remaining recoverable amounts exceed the carrying amounts
and no additional impairment loss needs to be recognized, as budgets and forecasts for the coming years support the remaining carrying amounts. Reference
is also made to the Board of Directors report for further description.

Other current liabilities
                Tomra Systems ASA
                          NGAAP
2006
2007

2005
10.2
-   
10.2

1) Including NOK 20 million of goodwill in Presona AB (2006: NOK 25 milllion).
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31.8
35.5
1.3
0.6
(6.1)
24.5
(15.3)
27.0
60.6
(15.3)

Deferred tax represents the net change in deferred tax assets and liabilities through changes in timing differences and loss carried forward. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are presented net of their respective tax effect using tax rate of the applicable jurisdiction applied to amounts which represent
future tax deductions or taxes payable and consist of the following as of 31 December.

17.7
48.7
69.9
53.8
190.1

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill 						
The following units have significant carrying amounts of goodwill:
2007
110.8
16.4
64.9
281.7
92.0
565.8

                     Group
                      IFRS
Amounts in NOK milion
2007		 2006
2005
TAX BASIS						
Profit before taxes
Dividend from subsidiaries
Permanent differences
Change in temporary differences
Basis for taxes payable						

Effective tax rate
Taxes based upon actual tax rates
Taxes on equity settled transactions
Tax effect from permanent differences
							 Actual tax expense

In addition NOK 80 million was written down in 2005, related to BU South America, see also note 23

Amounts in NOK million 				
US West
Nordic
Central Europe
Titech Visionsort
Orwak Group1)
Total				

                         Tomra Systems ASA
                                   NGAAP
2006
2005
2007
				
296.2
278.1
(93.7)
(202.5)
(30.8)
(1.9)
(33.2)
39.0
21.8
(87.2)
54.7
113.6
126.9
0.0

						

1) Impairment losses are specified as a separate line item in the Income Statement. The impairment losses consist of R&D projects that are
no longer in production, and do not give inflow to the Group anymore. For impairment loss on Goodwill see below.
2) All depreciation plans are linear.
3) The disposal of goodwill is reduction of earn-out for the aquisition of Commodas
4) Exchange rate as of 31 December 2005 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.
5) Exchange rate as of 31 December 2006 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.
6) Exchange rate as of 31 December 2007 are used in calculating intangible assets of foreign subsidiaries.
Specification of goodwill impairment losses 				
Tomra Switzerland (included in BU Central Europe)
Presona (included in Orwak Group)
Total impairment losses recognized 				

Taxes

14.8
6.9
65.8
54.2
141.7

                                                                                        Group
                                                                                         IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
2007
2006
Tax deductions, social security tax, holiday pay
Advances from customers
Dividend accruals
Non interest-bearing debt1)
Total other current liabilities

142.1
122.2
-   
120.7
385.0

130.5
70.9
-  
167.8
369.2

1) Non interest-bearing debt includes forward contracts of NOK 1.9 million.

Note 12

Provisions
Tomra Systems ASA - NGAAP
Amounts in NOK million
Balance at 1 January 2007
Provisions made during the year
Provisions used during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Balance at 31 December 2007

Warranty
9.8
25.9
(8.8)
(3.9)
23.0

Other
4.1
(0.8)
(1.0)
2.3

Total
13.9
25.9
(9.6)
(4.9)
25.3

Group - IFRS			

Neither an increase of the interest rate of 2.5 percent points, nor a reduction of forecasted cashflows of 20 percent, will trigger a writedown of goodwill,
except for Presona AB.

Amounts in NOK million
Balance at 1 January 2007
Provisions made during the year
Provisions used during the year
Provisions reversed during the year
Balance at 31 December 2007

Warranty
111.9
75.4
(92.3)
(6.3)
88.7

Other
6.7
(2.6)
(1.0)
3.1

Total
118.6
75.4
(94.9)
(7.3)
91.8

Research and development expenditure						
Research and development expenditure of NOK 156.9 million has been recognzed as an expense (2006: NOK 131.9 million) and NOK 12.1 million is
capitalized (2006: NOK 29.1 million).

Warranty provisions relate to accruals for service-expenses assumed to occur during the period sold machines are covered by warranties given to
the customer. Other provisions comprise of other provisions for contractual obligations with business partners, accrued social security taxes related to
vested, not exercised share options and provisions for known claims covered by Tomra in connection to the sale of its Brazilian operations in 2005.
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Note 13

Related parties

Note 13
cont.

Amounts in NOK, if not stated otherwise

10) Other benefits
The column comprises the value of other benefits received by the Group Management members during the year, including value of interest-free loans,
car
allowance, health insurance etc.

Identification of related parties
The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries and associates (see disclosure note 14 and 15) and with its directors and executive
officers. All transactions with related parties are based on arms length principles.
The tables below show all benefits that were received by board members and group management for the stated years.
2007
ShareBoard members
holding1)
Jan Chr. Opsahl (Chairman)
90,000
Jørgen Randers (Board member)
32,100
Hanne de Mora (Board member)
6,000
Rune Bjerke (Board member)
Grete Aasved (Board member)
Hege Marie Norheim (Board member)
1,000
Jo Lunder (Board member)12)
Svein Jacobsen (Audit Comittee)
Halvor Løken (Nomination Comittee)
Tom Knoff (Nomination Comittee)
Klaus Nærø (Employee representative)
3,112
Karen Michelet (Employee representative)
2,020
Marit Christensen (Employee representative)
2007
ShareGroup Management
holding1)
Amund Skarholt (CEO)2)
30,000
Gregory Knoll (President, BU North America)
Espen Gundersen (CFO)
10,000
Harald Henriksen (SVP Technology)
Håkan Erngren (VP, Tomra Nordic)
Heiner Bevers (MD, Tomra Germany)
2,000
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech Visionsort)
10,000
Trond Johannessen (SVP Business Development)15,000
Fredrik Witte (CFO, BU North America)
1,100
Ton Klumper (VP, Tomra Western and Eastern Europe)
2006
Board members
Jan Chr. Opsahl (Chairman)
Jørgen Randers (Board member)
Hanne de Mora (Board member)
Rune Bjerke (Board member)
Grethe Aasved (Board member)
Svein Jacobsen (Audit Comittee)
Halvor Løken (Nomination Comittee)
Tom Knoff (Nomination Comittee)
Klaus Nærø (Employee representative)
Karen Michelet (Employee representative)

Shareholding1)
90,000
32,100
6,000

3,112
2,040

2006
ShareGroup Management
holding1)
Amund Skarholt (CEO)2)
Gregory Knoll (President, BU North America)
Espen Gundersen (CFO)
Harald Henriksen (SVP Technology)
Håkan Erngren (VP, Tomra Nordic)
Heiner Bevers (MD, Tomra Germany)
2,000
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech Visionsort)
Trond Johannessen (SVP Business Development) 2,000
Fredrik Witte (CFO, BU North America)
1,100

Board
fees4)
680,000
365,000
365,000
365,000
365,000

Committee
fees5)
30,000
35,000
30,000
30,000

Options
vested6)

Salary7)

Other
benefits10)

Salary7)
3,240,000
USD 393,000
1,860,000
1,400,000
1,550,000
SEK 1,680,000
EUR 242,000
1,550,000
500,000
1,550,000
USD 204,712
EUR 138,000
Board
fees4)
650,000
350,000
350,000
350,000
175,000
175,000

Committee
fees5)
25,000
25,000
25,000
25,000

409,882
396,762 
522,474 

7,006
11,967
7,554 

Variable
Pension
salary8) premiums9)
1,560,000
324,000
USD 210,000
900,000
427,011
684,000
386,612
SEK 650,000SEK 348,484
EUR 118,000 EUR 4,447
732,000
331,021
750,000
210,331
USD 84,500
194,044
- EUR 45,173

Other
benefits10)
156,565
USD 16,309
228,286
301,046
SEK 189,319
EUR 6,528
151,689
203,062
62,536
EUR 21,212

Options
vested6)

Salary7)

Other
Benefits10)

Loan3)

Salary7)
3,058,083
USD 380,000
1,800,000
1,400,000
1,368,000
SEK 1,300,000
EUR 234,000
1,464,000
500,000
1,500,000
USD 190,000

Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIP)
At the end of 2005 TOMRA established a long term cash-based incentive plan, where managers receive bonus based upon yearly growth in the Group’s
and local unit’s profit and performance. The bonus for each year is placed in an interestbearing account in a virtual bonus bank, from which individual
holdings will be paid over a period of three years. If a manager resigns, his or her remaining holding is lost. For 2008, the maximum bonus each Group
manager can earn is capped at NOK 3,198,000.
Balance
Earned
Paid out
Balance
31.12.2007
2007
2007
31.12.2006
Amund Skarholt (CEO)
3,420 574
2,104,574
658,000
1,974,000
Gregory Knoll (President, BU North America) USD 597,769USD 387,381USD 105,194 USD 315,582
Espen Gundersen (CFO)
3,420,574
2,104,574
658,000
1,974,000
Harald Henriksen (SVP Technology)
3,420,574
2,104,574
658,000
1,974,000
Håkan Erngren (VP, Tomra Nordic)
SEK 3,928,054SEK 2,483,805 SEK 722,125 SEK 2,166,374
Heiner Bevers (MD, Tomra Germany)
EUR 423,843 EUR 264,096 EUR 79,874 EUR 239,621
Rune Marthinussen (MD, TiTech Visionsort) 2,762,574
2,104,574
329,000
987,000
Trond Johannessen (SVP Business Development)3,420,5742,104,574
658,000
1,974,000
Fredrik Witte (CFO, BU North America) USD 298,885 USD 193,691 USD 52,597 USD 157,791
Ton Klumper (VP, Tomra Western and Eastern Europe)EUR 64,123EUR 64,123
-

Other
Fees11)

The collective compensation for key management personnel is as follows (17 managers in 2007, 16 in 2006 and 20 in 2005):

25,000
25,000
25,000

200,000
200,000

Extract from principles for remuneration of Group Management
Salary should include both a fixed and a variable part. The variable salary may amount to a maximum of 55% of the fixed salary. Fringe benefits should
be
moderate and only account for a limited part of the remuneration package. There should be no special pension plans for Group Management members.
In 2006 the option program in TOMRA was replaced by a long term incentive plan for Group Management members (see below). The entire principles for
remuneration of Group Management are found under the Corporate Governance section of the annual report.

200,000
3,600
960
3,600

Loan3)

11) Other fees
Other fees received by Board and Comittee members consist of NOK 200,000 in compensation for recruiting new board members in 2007, and NOK
30,000 for other HR related services in 2006.

Other
fees11)

12) Shareholding Board member
Board member Jo Lunder holds the position of President in Ferd Industrial Holding, which had a holding of 2,900,000 shares in TOMRA at 31 December
2007.

35,000
35,000
30,000
210,000
210,000

Related parties

Amounts in NOK million
Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payment*
Total

30,000
3,600
960

364,898
351,696 

6,676
45,304 

Variable
salary8)
1,125,000
USD 200,000
900,000
500,000
SEK 650,000
EUR 110,000
560,000
500,000
USD 70,000

Option
gain
4,318,150
2,777,000
3,059,450
833,100
1,610,300
833,100
1,388,500
1,847,982

Pension
premiums9)
312,000
413,951
287,427
SEK 342,396
EUR 4,480
411,298
221,515
293,771

2007
35.9
2.6
38.5

2006
27.1
2.3
29.5

2005
26.5
4.6
12.5
5.2
48.8

*Share-based payment equals cost charged as an expense in accordance with IFRS2.
Other
benefits10)
126,525
USD 11,400
232,007
114,736
SEK 99,400
EUR 20,801
147,549
164,570
USD 11,112

Before 2006 TOMRA had option programs for employees and managers. For further details about the option progams, see disclosure note 19. Harald
Henriksen (SVP Technology) was the only member of the Group managment who was in possession of options in 2007; 30,000 options from the
2005-2007 plan, which were not exercised in 2007.
Loan to employees as of 31 December amount to NOK 3.1 million (2006: NOK 3.3 million) for the parent company and NOK 3.1 million (2006: NOK
3.8 million) for the group.
1) Shareholding
The column shows number of shares owned by the Board members, officers and companies controlled by them and their families.
2) Remuneration CEO
Amund Skarholt can in 2007 earn a variable salary up to 50% of his fixed salary, based upon the Group’s performance. He also participates in the
Long Term Incentive Plan (see below). The CEO is entitled to 12 months salary as severance pay, in the case of dismissal.
3) Loans to management
Loans in NOK as of 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2007. The loans are secured by mortgage in real estate and are interest and installment
free.

Total remuneration is included in “employee benefit expenses” (see disclosure note 3).
Transactions with subsidiaries
Transactions between the Group companies, which are related parties, have been eliminated in the consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.
Auditors’ fees
                                                                                                       2007                                           2006                                            2005

Note 14

Amounts in NOK million
Statutory audit
Other attestation services
Tax consulting
Other services
Total

Shares and investments

Parent
1.0
0.1
1.1

Group
6.1
0.1
1.7
0.5
8.4

Parent
1.1
0.2
1.3

Group
6.0
1.0
0.1
7.1

Parent
0.6
0.1
0.5
1.2

Group
4.4
0.4
1.5
0.6
6.9

Statutory audit fees to KPMG for the Group are NOK 4.9 million, and fees to other auditors are NOK 1.2 million.
TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP				
Year of
Vote and
Amounts in NOK million
Country
acquisition
owner share
Book value
Tomra North America Inc
USA
1992
100.0 %
1,166.2
Tomra Systems Inc
Canada
1988
100.0 %
42.5
Tomra Europe AS
Norway
1998
100.0 %
10.0
Tomra Production AS
Norway
1998
100.0 %
15.0
Tomra Canada Inc
Canada
2000
100.0 %
37.3
Tomra Japan Asia Pacific KK
Japan
2000
100.0 %
0.0
Orwak Group AB
Sweden
2005
100.0 %
110.6
TiTech Visionsort AS
Norway
2004
100.0 %
208.2
Tomra Systems Ltd.
United Kingdom
2006
100.0 %
2.3
Total shares in subsidiaries				
1,592,1

4) Board fees
The column comprises Board member fees paid out in the year for the previous year.
5) Committee fees
The column comprises the fees related to participation in the Audit, Compensation, and Nomination Committes paid out in the year for the previous
year.
6) Options vested
Employee representatives’ vested, but not exercised options as of year-end.
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7) Salary
The column comprises ordinary salary received in the year.
8) Variable salary
The column comprises bonus to Group Management members received in the beginning of the year, based upon the previous years performance. The
amounts do not include payments from the LTIP-program, described below.
9) Pension premiums
The Group Management members participate in pension plans as other employees in the jurisdiction they are employed. The CEO was not included in
the defined benefit plan, but received instead a fixed compensation. For further description of the pension plan, see disclosure note 16.

A long term loan to the subsidiary Tomra North America Inc of NOK 374
million/USD 54 million, is treated as part of net investments in the
consolidated amounts. In the parent company it is booked at cost and
reported under loans to subsidiaries.
Tomra South America SA was sold in 2005 at a loss of NOK 136.8 million
to the parent company. For effect on the consolidated figures, please see
note 23.
Tomra Systems OY was liquidated in 2005. The liquidation gave a positive
effect of NOK 11.5 million to the parent company. The effect on the consolidated figures was zero.

On 30 November 2006, the Group sold its subsidiary Tomra AG. Tomra AG
is included in the P/L with revenues of NOK 3.5 million and a loss before tax
of NOK 3.6 million in 2006.
Tomra AG was in 2006 sold at a price equal to the book value of NOK 6.7
million.
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Note 15

Investments in associates

Note 16
cont.

GROUP - IFRS						
Amounts in NOK million
Book value 31 December 2006
Profit 2007
Dividends and equity infusions
Currency translation difference
Book value 31 December 2007

Ultre-PET
40.3
(5.4 )
34.9

Equity at date of acquisition
Country
Year of acquisition
Vote and share ownership

41.0
USA
1999
49%

Tomra s.r.o.
1.5
(1.4 )
(0.1 )
0.0

0.0
Czech Republic
1998
40%

Tomra Baltic
0.3
0.4
0.7

Basis for calculation							
Discount rate
4.70%
4.35%
5.20%
4.20%
Expected wage increase
4.50%
4.50%
4.50%
4.50%
Expected increase of base amount
4.25%
4.25%
4.25%
4.25%
Expected pension regulation
2.00%
1.60%
2.00%
2.00%
Interest
2.65%
2.71%
3.14%
2.16%
Expected return on plan assets
5.75%
5.45%
5.75%
5.75%

0.0
Estonia
2005
40%

Summary financial information for associates on 100% basis:
Total
70.3
42.5
27.6
194.9
6.2

2006				
Assets
59.5
7.0
3.9
Liabilities
36.7
1.8
3.2
Equity
22.8
5.2
0.8
Revenues
168.5
17.4
5.8
Profit/(loss)
0.0
3.8
0.3

Total
70.4
41.7
28.8
191.7
4.1

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below shows how changes in the basis for calculation will affect the numbers.

Total
40.6
1.9
(1.4 )
(5.5 )
35.6

2007				
Assets
51.5
9.5
9.3
Liabilities
31.8
3.3
7.4
Equity
19.7
6.1
1.8
Revenues
157.9
16.2
20.8
Profit/(loss)
0.0
4.6
1.6

Pension and pension obligations

4.70%
5.00%
4.25%
2.00%
2.65%
5.75%

4.70%
4.00%
4.25%
2.00%
2.65%
5.75%

Results							
Amounts in NOK million							
Service costs
12.4
12.9
10.9
14.1
14.1
Accumulated benefit obligation
81.4
83.1
73.8
90.0
81.4
Present benefit obligation
127.6
131.9
114.1
143.3
139.0
Total benefit obligation
320.6
337.9
279.6
369.2
367.1
Plan assets
106.0
106.0
106.0
106.0
106.0

10.8
81.4
117.1
278.1
106.0

TOMRA SYSTEMS ASA - NGAAP
From 1 January 2006 Tomra Systems ASA is obliged to have a pension plan for its employees, and our pension plan meets this requirement.
Tomra has in accordance with NRS 6A.3 used the option to convert to IAS 19 for its pensions. The change has been implemented with effect from
1 January 2004, and unrecognized actuarial gains and losses are reset.
The conversion has no effect on the consolidated figures. The effect on the Tomra Systems ASA amounts is explained below.

Note 16

Pension and pension obligations
   Tomra Systems ASA
                                  NGAAP
2007

2006

2005

13.3
5.3
(4.7)
(7.1)
2.4
1.1
10.3

12.5
5.9
(6.3)
0.8
1.8
14.7

11.8
5.6
(5.5)
0.5
1.8
14.2

127.6
(106.0)
(24.1)
(0.4)
(2.9)

136.4
(93.3)
(36.4)
1.0
7.7

128.2
(100.1)
(15.6)
1.7
14.2

4.70%
4.50%
4.25%
5.75%

7.7
(20.9)
10.3
(2.9)

4.35%
4.50%
4.25%
5.45%

14.2
(21.2)
14.7
7.7

2004							
No changes in the P/L between pension costs according to NRS 6 and  IAS 19.

                                                                                                                       Group
                                                                                                                         IFRS

4.70%
3.00%
3.00%
5.70%

20.5
(20.5)
14.2
14.2

Amounts in NOK million

2007

EXPENSE RECOGNIZED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT
Current service cost
Interest cost of pension obligations
Expected return on plan assets
Effect from closed plan
Actuarial gains and losses
Social security tax included in pension cost
Net pension costs
FINANCIAL STATUS AS OF 31 DECEMBER
Present value of funded pension obligations
Fair value of plan assets
Unrecognized actuarial gains & losses
Social security tax obligation
Pension liability
BASIS FOR CALCULATION
Discount rate
Expected wage increase
Expected increase of base amount
Expected return on plan assets 31 December
MOVEMENTS IN THE NET LIABILITY FOR
DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AS RECOGNIZED
IN THE BALANCE SHEET
Net liability at 1 January
Contributions received
Expense recognized in the Income Statement (*)
Net liability at 31 December

2006

13.3
5.3
(4.7)
(7.1)
2.4
1.1
10.3

12.5
5.9
(6.3)
0.8
1.8
14.7

11.8
5.6
(5.5)
0.5
1.8
14.2

127.6
(106.0)
(24.1)
(0.4)
(2.9)

136.4
(93.3)
(36.4)
1.0
7.7

128.2
(100.1)
(15.6)
1.7
14.2

4.70%
4.50%
4.25%
5.75%

7.7
(20.9)
10.3
(2.9)

4.35%
4.50%
4.25%
5.45%

14.2
(21.2)
14.7
7.7

2005							
The effect of the change in accounting principle for 2005 is shown below with the effect allocated to the affected accounting lines.

2005

4.70%
3.00%
3.00%
5.70%

2005	Effect
NRS 6		
   143.5
(16.1)
(80.4)

Note 17

14.7

14.2

Employee benefits expenses

GROUP - IFRS
All employees in Norway have until the end of 2006 been covered by
a collective pension plan, where the insured pension plans covered all
employees in Norway in permanent positions with at least 50 percent of
full time employment and below an age of 57 years at the employment
date. The pension plan was structured as a retirement net agreement
in that it guaranteed a supplement to the State benefits. There has not
been any agreements for compensation of reductions in State benefits.
The plan gives right to defined future benefits (defined benefit plan). The
benefit is mainly dependent upon years within the plan, salary at date of
retirement and compensation from the State. The obligations are covered
through Storebrand insurance company. The plan should ensure that the
employees would get a pension of about 65% of salary, if they had full
contribution time, limited upwards to 12G.
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In 2007, TOMRA established a defined contribution plan, where TOMRA
contributes with 5% of salary between 1 and 6G and 8% of salary
between 6 and 12G. The old defined benefit plan for salary up to 12G
was at the same time closed for new members, so all new employees
from january 2007 are members of the recently established defined
contribution plan instead.
Employees that were members of the defined benefit plan, could choose
if they wanted to stay in this plan or join the new defined benefit plan.
Employees that chose to change pension plan got a paid up policy for
the benefit they had earned under the old plan. In total 65 employees
chose to change pension plan.
In addition TOMRA had a separate pension plan for benefits over 12G,
with the same coverage as the plan up to 12G. Until the end of 2006 the
pension premium for such plans was not taxable for the receiver, but it
would be taxable when the pension was paid out. The pension premium
was not tax deductible for the company.

140.7
(15.3)
(78.4)

Employee benefits expensed
Taxes
Net Profit

25.6
40.5
2,811.6

15.3
(40.5)
(25.2)

40.9
-   
2,786.4

Deferred tax assets
Pensions
Total assets

818.6
-   
2,811.6

(39.4)
14.2
25.2

779.2
14.2
2,786.4

Retained earnings
Pension liabilities
Total liabilities and equity

Cash and cash equivalents
        Tomra Systems ASA                                                                                                                  GROUP
                    NGAAP
                                                                                                          IFRS
2007
2006
Amounts in NOK million
2007
116.4
116.4

20.5
(20.5)
14.2
14.2

209.2
209.2

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows1)

190.8
190.8

2006
286.4
286.4

1) Includes restricted bank deposits totaling NOK 9.3 million for the Parent company and NOK 10.5 million for the Group.
Tomra Systems ASA and its fully owned subsidiaries participate in an international multi-currency cash-pool, operated by DnB. All the subsidiaries
deposit to and withdraw from the pool through the cash-pool agreement as an Intra-Group receivable/payable towards Tomra Systems ASA, and the
transactions are classified as such in the financial statement.

(*) The expense is recognized in the following
line item in the income statement
8.9

(2.8)
0.8
2.0

2005				
IAS 19

8.9

14.7

14.2

Due to changes in the tax regulations the pension premium paid is
taxable from 1 January 2007 for the employee, while only the return of
the pension is taxable when it is paid out. The pension premium is also
tax deductible for the company.
To eliminate the effect of the changes in tax regulation for employees,
the pension plan was adjusted to keep the benefit after tax unchanged
for the employee.  This is done by adjusting the pension premium down
to a level where the employee will get the same benefit after tax as
under the former pension plan. In addition TOMRA compensates the
employees tax on the pension premium.
The pension plans have been treated for accounting purposes in
accordance with IAS 19. The parent company’s plan, which also covers
employees in Tomra Butikksystemer AS, Tomra Production AS, Titech
Visionsort AS and Q-vision AS, includes 261 employees and 10 retirees
at year-end 2007.
Actual return on plan assets was NOK 7.5 million in 2006.
The table above shows total pension cost for the parent company and
the Group’s defined benefit plans, and total pension obligations at 31
December for the parent company and the Group’s defined benefit plans
and defined contribution plans. Net pension obligations at 31 December
2007 are split between net pension assets for the defined benefit plans
of NOK 3.1 million, and net pension obligations for the defined
contribution plans of NOK 0.2 million.
Total pension cost in note 4 of NOK 11.1 million for the parent company
includes pension cost from the defined benefit plans of NOK 7.5 million,
and pension cost from the defined contribution plans of NOK 3.6 million.
(2006: NOK 14.7 million for the defined benefit plans and NOK 0.0
million for the defined contribution plans).  
Total pension cost in note 4 of NOK 26.2 million for the Group includes
pension cost from the defined benefit plans of NOK 7.5 million, and
pension cost from the defined contribution plans of NOK 18.7 million.
(2006: NOK 14.7 million for the defined benefit plans and NOK 9.1
million for the defined contribution plans).

Note 18

Financial instruments
The responsibility for financing, cash management and financial risk
management is centralized and handled by the Finance Department of
Tomra Systems ASA.

denominated in NOK and established in October 2006. Maximum facility
amount is NOK 500,000,000 and interest is payable at a rate of NIBOR
(Norwegian Interbank Offerede Rate) plus 27 basis points. The balance
as of December 2007 is NOK 375,000,000. A change of 100 basis points
in the interest rate, calculated on the loan amount as pr reporting date,
increases/decreases the financial costs by NOK 3,750,000 on an annual
basis. At year end the cash and cash equivalents had a duration of zero
(mainly bank holdings), and the average duration on the credit facility
was two months.

Credit risk
Historically the Group has limited bad debt on receivables. The Group
has established sufficient routines for credit checks on clients and credit
risk is not considered to be significant on outstanding receivables as of
31 December 2007. However, TOMRA’s customers comprise both the
largest retail chains in the world, as well as large scrap material
processors, where outstanding receivables globally can be significant.
In a situation where one of these systems collapses, TOMRA might be
exposed. Maximum exposed credit risk at year end equals total
receivables in the balance sheet.

Liquidity risk					
TOMRA is exposed to a limited liquidity risk, due to strong cash flows
in addition to a solid balance which enables a higher gearing ratio if
required.

Interest rate risk					
TOMRA’s cash surplus is mainly placed in NOK with short duration.
According to the adopted financing strategy, the duration of the
portfolio should not exceed six months. Interest-bearing liabilities are
mainly related to a revolving, bilateral five-year credit facility

Foreign currency risk					
TOMRA is exposed to changes in NOK relative to other currencies. With 97
percent of its income in foreign currencies, a strengthening of the Norwegian
crown will lead to reduced earnings for the Group, measured in NOK. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily EURO and U. S. Dollars.

The split of revenues and the balance sheet as of 31 December in currencies, is distributed as:
                                                                        Revenues
2007
2006
37%
34%
42%
51%
9%
7%
3%
3%
9%
5%

USD
EURO
SEK
NOK
OTHER

Balance sheet		
2007
2006
39%
54%
26%
22%
6%
8%
22%
12%
7%
4%
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Note 18
cont.

Note 19
cont.

Financial instruments
The split of the balance sheet as of 31 December 2007 by currency is distributed between the balance lines as follows:
Total intangible non-current assets
Total tangible non-current assets
Total financial non-current assets
Inventory
Total receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

USD
17.2 %
62.7 %
92.7 %
21.0 %
50.0 %
13.2 %
39.1 %

EURO
30.1 %
4.9 %
6.4 %
27.6 %
31.1 %
54.2 %
26.1 %

NOK
45.8 %
19.0 %
0.2 %
32.8 %
5.5 %
0.0 %
21.5 %

SEK
5.2 %
3.5 %
0.0 %
10.0 %
5.6 %
10.3 %
5.9 %

OTHER	
1.7 %
9.9 %
0.7 %
8.6 %
7.8 %
22.3 %
7.4 %

Total non-current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

1.8 %
19.8 %
13.6 %

0.3 %
35.2 %
23.1 %

94.2 %
29.0 %
51.7 %

3.2 %
8.9 %
6.9 %

0.5 %
7.1 %
4.7 %

Share-based payments
The terms and conditions of vested options still not expired:
Plan
Strike
2002-2007 Employees1)
86,00
1)
2003-2008 Employees
45.10
2004-2009 Employees1)
40.10
2005-2010 Employees1)
33.30
2)
2005-2007 Management
27.73
Total		

Remaining		
number of options
Vested
760,241
February 2003
340,766
February 2004
87,239
February 2005
239,536
February 2006
103,000
February 2006
1,530,782		

Termination
February 2008
February 2009
February 2010
February 2011
February 2008

1) Vesting conditions: One year of service and entity achieving the agreed budget. Contractual life of options: 5 Years.
2) Vesting conditions: One year of service and specific performance targets. Contractual life of options: 2 Years.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for employees are as follows:

A weakening/strengthening of the Norwegian crown of 10 percent will normally lead to a 15-25 percent strengthening/weakening in operating profit.
Currency fluctuations will in addition affect the book value of assets and liabilities in TOMRA’s foreign subsidiaries. A 10 percent weakening/
strengthening in the value of the Norwegian crown would have increased/decreased equity by NOK 170 million as per balance 31 December 2007.
(This analysis assumes all other variables remain constant.) Such changes in value will however not have a P/L impact as they are booked as
translation differences against equity.
The following exchange rates were applied during the year1):

                                                                                                                                    2007		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
Outstanding at the beginning of the period
71.10
1,719,226
Forfeited during the period
129.75
(207,859)
Exercised during the period
45.59
(83,585)
Granted during the period
n/a
-   
Outstanding and exercisable at the end of the period
64.59
1,427,782

2006
Weighted average
strike price
60.02
77.64
54.87
n/a
71.10

Number
of options
4,208,699
(936,339)
(1,553,134)
-   
1,719,226

                                                                                                 Average rate (P/L rate) Reporting date rate (Balance rate)		
2007
2006
2007
2006
USD/NOK
5.861
6.414
5.411
6.255
EURO/NOK
8.018
8.047
7.961
8.238
SEK/NOK
0.867
0.870
0.846
0.911

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price in the range of 33.30 to 86.00 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1
year.

1) Exchange rates distributed by the Norwegian Central Bank

                                                                                                                                    2007		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
Outstanding at the beginning of the period
28.60
242,500
Forfeited during the period
n/a
-   
Exercised during the period
46.43
(139,500 )
Granted during the period
n/a
-   
Outstanding and exercisable at the end of the period
27.73
103,000

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for management are as follows:

The parent company has forward exchange contracts that economically hedge future cash flows. According to TOMRA’s finance strategy
economical hedging may be done for up to 12 months of expected cash flows. The forward exchange contracts that economically hedge future cash
flows are stated at fair value of NOK 7.2 million at 31 December 2007 and recognized in receivables (fair value derivatives) at NOK 9.1 million and in
other current liabilities at NOK 1.9 million in the balance sheet (31 December 2006: NOK 1.6 million as receivable). Changes in the fair value of these
forward contracts are recognized in the income statement in 2007. The changes in fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains
and losses relating to the cash flows in 2007, amount to NOK 12,8 million (see disclosure note 4).
Outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts, as of 31 December:
                                                                                                                        2007		
Currency 			
Amount forward (sold) / bought
(million)	Exch.rate
Due date
EURO/NOK
(13.0)
7.961
2008
USD/NOK
16.0
5.411
2008
GBP/NOK
(6.7)
10.810
2008
JPY/NOK
(1,140.0)
0.048
2008
CAD/NOK
(7.8)
5.530
2008
SEK/NOK
(72.0)
0.846
2008

2006		
Currency 		
(million)	Exch.rate
(40.0)
8.238
5.0
6.225
(6.0)
12.268
(760.0)
0.053
(7.5)
5.391

2006		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
29.42
2,954,900
30.13
(28,000)
55.32
(2,684,400)
n/a
-   
28.60
242,500

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price of 27.73 and a remaining contractual life of 0.2 years.
Due date
2007
2007
2007
2007
2007

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The
estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a Black & Scholes model. Expectations of early exercise are taken into
account in the Black & Scholes model by reducing the contractual life of the option which is used as an input to this model. The expected volatility is
based on the historic volatility (calculated based on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to
future volatility due to publicly available information. Share options are granted under a service condition and a non-market performance condition. Such
conditions are not taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received. There are no market conditions associated with
the share option grants.
Fair value of share options and assumptions:

TOMRA has not entered into any commodity contracts as of 31 December 2007.
Hedge accounting under IAS39						
Tomra Systems ASA has not applied hedge accounting in 2007 for the cash flow in accordance with IAS39. (In year 2006 Tomra Systems ASA applied
hedge accounting in accordance with IAS39 for the cash flow from deliveries of machines and parts to its subsidiary Tomra Systems GmbH.)
Fair values						
2007		
2006			
Carrying
Fair
Carrying
Fair		
Amounts in NOK million
amount
value
amount
value
Long term receivables
134.4
126.5
180.2
179.3
Receivables
732.8
732.8
813.9
813.9
Cash and cash equivalents
190.8
190.8
286.4
286.4
Forward exchange contracts
7.2
7.2
1.6
1.6
Finance lease liabilities
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
Unsecured bank facilities
(375.9)
(376.0)
(344.7)
(343.6)
Other interest-bearing liabilities
(41.4)
(41.4)
(35.4)
(36.5)
Payables
(241.5)
(241.5)
(257.0)
(256.9)
Total
406.4
398.4
645.0
644.2 		
Estimation of fair values						
The following summarizes the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments:
Derivatives 						
Forward exchange contracts are either market to market using listed market prices or by discounting the difference between the contractual forward
price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 						
Fair value is calculated based on discounted expected future principal and interest cash flows.
Receivables/payables						
For receivables/payables with a remaining life of less than one year, the notional amount is deemed to reflect the fair value. All other receivables/
payables are discounted to determine the fair value.
Interest rates used for determining fair value
Loans and borrowings
Receivables/payables

2007
6.0%
5.0%

2006				
5.5%
4.5%

Share options for employees		
Fair value at measurement date

2007
n/a

2006
n/a

Share price in NOK
Exercise price in NOK
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility used) in %
Average option life (reduced for expectations of early exercise) in years1)
Expected dividends in NOK
Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) in %2)

2005
10.15
33.30
33.30
40%
2.25 yrs
0.40
3.05%

1) Average option life for employees is based upon an assumption that 50% of all employees exercise at first opportunity, 25% at next and 25 % at last
opportunity.
2) Interest is calculated based upon the average interest rate for the applicable period.
Share options for management		
Fair value at measurement date

2007
n/a

2006
n/a

Share price in NOK
Exercise price in NOK
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility used) in %
Option life (reduced for expectations of early exercise) in years1)
Expected dividends in NOK
Risk-free interest rate (based on national government bonds) in %2)

2005
6.47
27.73
27.73
40%
1.6 yrs
0.40
2.37%

1) Average option life for managers is based upon an assumption that 40% of all managers exercise at first opportunity, and 60% at last opportunity.
2) Interest is calculated based upon the average interest rate for the applicable period.
Employee expenses in million NOK		
Share options granted in 2004
Share options granted in 2005
Total expense/(income) recognized as employee costs		

2007
0.0

2006
(1.0)
(1.0)

2005
25.5
25.5

TOMRA SYSTEMS - NGAAP
The share option program for employees in Tomra Systems ASA is identical to those for the rest of the Group, and has been calculated using the same
principles under IFRS described above.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for employees are as follows:

Note 19

Share-based payments
GROUP - IFRS
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Share option plans for employees
TOMRA has previously had a share bonus program for all employees
in fully owned TOMRA companies. Under the plan, all employees were
granted up to 1,200 options each year with a strike price equal to the
market price at the beginning of the respective year. Share options were
granted under a service condition and a non-market performance
condition in the form of entities achieving the agreed budget. The vesting
period was one year. Vested options could be kept up to 5 years after
vesting. No options have been granted under this plan since 2005.
Share option plans for management
TOMRA has also had a share bonus program for management where
vesting  conditions were tied to specific  non-market performance targets
(variable plans) in addition  to service conditions. Vesting period was one
year. Vested options could be exercised up to 2 years after vesting. The
strike price  was based upon the average closing price on the Oslo Stock

Exchange the following three days after the options had been granted.
The share bonus program included about 110 managers and key
personnel in the Group, with an average of about 20,000 share options
per manager each year. No options have been granted under this plan
since 2005.
Exercise March 2007
In March 2007, 71,786 employee options and 131,500 management
options were exercised. All options were settled with the use of treasury
shares held by the company.
Exercise November 2007
In November 2007, 11,799 employee options and 8,000 management
options were exercised. All options were settled with the use of treasury
shares held by the company.

                                                                                                                                    2007		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
Outstanding at the beginning of the period
59.60
283,815
Forfeited during the period
72.37
(11,880)
Exercised during the period
45.57
(12,600)
Granted during the period
n/a
-   
Outstanding and exercisable at the end of the period
60.13
259,335

2006		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
57.87
466,196
68.54
(97,964)
39.68
(84,417)
n/a
-   
59.60
283,815

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price in the range of 33.30 to 86.00 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of
1.2 years. Total expense recognized as employee cost in 2007 is NOK zero.
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options for management are as follows:
                                                                                                                                    2007		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
Outstanding at the beginning of the period
28.68
223,500
Forfeited during the period
n/a
Exercised during the period
46.41
(135,500)
Granted during the period
n/a
-   
Outstanding and exercisable at the end of the period
27.73
88,000

2006		
Weighted average
Number
strike price
of options
29.47
1,498,100
n/a
29.67
(1,274,600)
n/a
-   
28.68
223,500

The options outstanding at 31 December 2007 have a strike price of 27.73 and a weighted contractual life of 0.2 years.
Total expense recognized as employee costs in 2007 is NOK zero.

35

Note 20

Note 21

Equity
Tomra Systems ASA - NGAAP
Amounts in NOK million
Balance per 31 December 2005
Net profit
Deleted shares
Share options exercised, ref. note 19
Purchase of own shares
Own shares sold to employees
Received dividend on own shares
Dividend to shareholders
Balance per 31 December 2006
Net profit
Deleted shares
Purchase of own shares
Own shares sold to employees
Received dividend on own shares
Dividend to shareholders
Balance per 31 December 2007

Share
capital
178.5
(4.8)

Treasury
shares
(4.5)

Share
premium
1,418.3

Paid-in	Retained
capital
earnings
1,592.3
779.2
217.5

4.8
(9.8)
0.2

173.6
(9.0)

164.7

(9.2)

(9.8)
0.2
1,418.3

1,582.7

269.2

9.0
(9.2)
0.2
(9.3)

(33.6)
(412.0)
6.2
0.2
(65.8)
491.7

(9.2)
0.2
1,418.3

1,573.7

(399.1)
6.9
1.1
(69.9)
299.9

Total
equity
2,371.5
217.5
0.0
(33.6)
(421.8)
6.4
0.2
(65.8)
2,074.4

The amounts shown are based upon information from Verdipapirsentralen.
On nominee accounts, information regarding beneficial ownership has been collected and
presented where possible.

Number of
shares
178,486,559

	Registered at 31 December 2007
Number of shares
1.
Orkla ASA
23,953,000
2.
Folketrygdfondet
13,037,900
3.
Taube, Hodson, Stonex Partners Ltd.
10,440,700
4.
Tomra Systems ASA
9,279,815
5.
New Jersey Division of Investment (Int’l)
3,500,000
6.
Jupiter Asset Management Ltd.
3,491,800
7.
Ferd
2,900,000
8.
Impax Asset Management Ltd.
2,887,567
9.
DnB NOR Kapitalforvaltning ASA
2,663,168
10. KLP Forsikring
2,300,000
11. Stavanger Fondsforvaltning A/S
2,300,000
12. Nordea Investment Management ASA
1,936,277
13. Swedbank Robur AB
1,890,551
14. Russel Investment Group (UK)
1,888,000
15. Nordea Investment Management AB (Sweden)
1,804,380
16. French Res Treaty CL
1,786,090
17. Odey Asset Managment LLP
1,523,950
18. Taj Holding AS
1,367,800
19. Bank Austria Creditanstalt AG
1,366,694
20. If P&C Insurance Company
1,352,000

(4,844,695)

173,641,864

269.2
0.0
(8,951,647)
(408.3)
7.1
1.1
(69.9)
1,873.6 164,690,217

Shares par value is 1 NOK. Free equity at the end of 2007 equaled NOK 277.4 million.
Tomra Systems ASA has in 2007 purchased 9,233,000 own shares at an average price of NOK 44.22 per share.
At an extraordinary shareholders meeting on 19 December 2006, it was decided to amortize 8,951,647 treasury shares.
The amortization took place after the two months notification period expired in February 2007.
Total shareholding of treasury shares is 9,279,815 as of year end 2007.
GROUP - IFRS
Amounts in NOK million
Balance per 31 December 2005		
Net profit
Changes in translation difference
Disposal of subsidiaries/dividend minorities
Share options exercised by employees2)
Equity-settled transactions, net of tax
Purchase of own shares
Own shares sold to employees
Dividend to shareholders
Balance per 31 December 2006		

Paid-in
capital
1,592.3

Translation	Retained
reserve
earnings
(32.8)
606.4
(82.3)

(9.8)
0.2
1,582.7

(115.1)

Net profit
Changes in translation difference
(161.5)
Disposal of subsidiaries/dividend minorities
Purchase of own shares
(9.2)
Own shares sold to employees
0.2
Dividend to shareholders1)
Balance per 31 December 2007		
1,573.7
(276.6)
		
1) Dividend payment was NOK 0.40 per share in 2007, equal to the proposal in the 2006 financial
2) The amount is presented net of taxes.

427.1
(62.0)
(1.0)
(411.9)
6.2
(60.8)
504.0
279.6
(399.1)
6.9
(64.7)
326.7

Total
majority
equity
2,165.9
427.1
(82.3)
(62.0)
(1.0)
(421.7)
6.4
(60.8)
1,971.6
279.6
(161.5)
(408.3)
7.1
(64.7)
1,623.8

 	

Minority
interest
75.2
12.7
(5.4)
(16.7)

65.8
12.1
(8.8)
(12.8)

56.3

Total
equity
2,241.1
439.8
(87.7)
(16.7)
(62.0)
(1.0)
(421.7)
6.4
(60.8)
2,037.4
291.7
(170.3)
(12.8)
(408.3)
7.1
(64.7)
1,680.1 					

statement.

Dividends
After the balance sheet date the following dividends were proposed by the directors:

Majority equity 31 December (MNOK)
Equity per share (NOK)
Net profit after minority interest (MNOK)
Earnings per share

91,669,692
73,020,525
164,690,217

55.66%
44.34%
100.00%

Shares owned by Norwegian shareholders
Shares owned by foreign shareholders
Total

91,320,092
73,370,125
164,690,217

55.45%
44.55%
100.00%

Acquisitions
There have not been any acquisitions in 2007, only an adjustment to the earn-out for Commodas shown below.
Commodas Mining GmbH
On 1 July 2006, TOMRA’s subsidiary Titech Visionsort AS acquired 100 percent of the shares of Commodas Mining GmbH. The purchase price was
estimated at NOK 133.8 million satisfied in cash of NOK 98.5 million and possible additional payment of up to NOK 35.3 million, depending on the
company‘s earnings in 2007. The purchase price included goodwill of NOK 129.1 million.
Commodas is a leading provider of technology solutions for identification and sorting of high-value material fractions, such as packaging and paper.
The net assets aquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising as recorded in 2006, are as follows:
			
Acquiree’s			
			
carrying amount
Fair value 		
Amounts in NOK million			 before combination adjustments
Fair value

Patents
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other short-term receivables
Trade payables
Tax payables
Other short-term liabilities

0.0
8.0
5.5
19.8
1.6
(4.4)
(0.2)
(28.6)
1.7

4.8
(0.7)
(1.1)
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
3.0

4.8
7.3
4.4
19.8
1.6
(4.4)
(0.2)
(28.6)
4.7
129.1
98.5
35.3

2006
65.8

2007
166,182,158
159,773,955
159,868,886

2006
176,602,511
171,922,994
172,240,795

Company’s goodwill
Group goodwill
Total goodwill related to the transaction						

0.0
129.1
129.1

1,623.8
10.16

1,971.6
11.47

279.6
1.76

427.1
2.48

Net cash outflow arising on aquisition:						
Cash consideration paid
Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Net cash outflow							

(98.5)
0.0
(98.5)

At 31 December 2007 there were 1,188,246 options that are not “in the money“ and therefore have no effect on earnings per share.
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Total
Other shareholders
Total (9,990 shareholders)

2007
69.9

The dividend has not yet been provided for and there are no income taxes consequences.
Earnings per share
Average number of shares
Average number of shares, adjusted for own shares
Average number of shares, adjusted for own shares, fully diluted

Note 22

Ownership			
14.54%
7.91%
6.34%
5.63%
2.12%
2.12%
1.76%
1.75%
1.62%
1.40%
1.40%
1.18%
1.15%
1.15%
1.10%
1.08%
0.93%
0.83%
0.83%
0.82%

Net assets acquired:

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations that are
not integral to the operations of the company.

Amounts in NOK million				
NOK 0.45 per qualifying share (2006: NOK 0.40)

Shareholders

Goodwill
Total consideration satisfied by cash
Earn out, booked under interest bearing liabilities

The goodwill arising on the aquisition of Commodas is attributable to predicted future cash flows.
The aquired company contributed NOK 57.5 million in revenue and NOK 10.2 million to the Group’s profit before tax for the period between the date
of aquisition and 31 December 2006. If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2006, total group revenue for 2006 would have increased by
NOK 31.0 million, but the profit for the year would not have changed.
Earn out calculation in 2007						
The company’s earnings in 2007 showed that no earn out will be paid. The earn out booked as interest bearing liabilities of NOK 35.3 million is removed
and the goodwill is decreased by NOK 31.3 million, see note 9. The difference between the two amounts is accumulated interest and agio
that is also decreased.
Titech Visionsort AS		
In 2006 we have paid NOK 18.4 million related to the final payment to the former owners of Real Vision Systems GmbH.
Orwak Group AB
In February 2005 TOMRA bought 100 percent of the shares in Orwak Group AB in Sweden. The purchase price was NOK 111.3 million satisfied in
cash. The acquisition has been accounted for as being completed as of 1 January 2005.
Orwak is a leading provider of a wide range of compaction solutions for recyclables such as cardboard, paper and plastic.
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Note 22
cont.

Acquisitions
The net assets aquired in the transaction, and the goodwill arising, are as follows:
			
Acquiree’s		
			 carrying amount
Fair value
Amounts in NOK million		before combination adjustments

To the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Tomra Systems ASA

Fair value

AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR 2007

Net assets acquired:
Deferred tax assets
Development cost
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other short-term debt
Bank and cash balances
Deferred tax
Trade payables
Tax payables
Other short-term liabilities
Advanced payments

1.1
1.8
20.0
17.9
48.9
55.7
4.8
1.4
(5.1)
(25.4)
(1.8)
(59.0)
(21.6)
38.7

(6.8)
Goodwill
Total consideration satisfied by cash					

1.1
1.8
20.0
15.6
43.0
55.7
4.8
1.4
(3.7)
(25.4)
(1.8)
(59.0)
(21.6)
31.9
81.0
112.9

Company’s goodwill
Group goodwill
Total goodwill related to aquisition					

20.0
81.0
101.0

Net cash outflow arising on aquisition:					
Cash consideration paid
Cash and cash equivalents acquired
Net cash outflow							

(112.7)
1.4
(111.3)

(2.3)
(5.9)

1.4

The goodwill arising on the aquisition of Orwak is attributable to predicted future cash flows.

Note 23

Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit. Mauris augue. Nulla sollicitudin iaculis tellus. Fusce et quam. Nunc laoreet lacus
at urna. Morbi urna. Vestibulum ultrices, sem adipiscing egestas sagittis, mauris turpis tempus quam, euismod pretium nisl lorem eget mi.
Praesent ipsum. Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet, consectetur adipiscing elit. Donec nec felis. Cras mattis, enim quis auctor ultrices, orci arcu
pretium turpis, vel pharetra nisl nisl vel ligula. Morbi dui urna, mattis et, tincidunt id, dictum sit amet, nisi. Suspendisse rutrum dolor ut orci.
Pellentesque commodo, dolor vitae volutpat posuere, neque eros tempor dui, eu luctus est felis at nulla. Quisque fermentum volutpat ante.
Pellentesque id nunc in elit aliquam gravida. Cum sociis natoque penatibus et magnis dis parturient montes, nascetur ridiculus mus. Sed feugiat. Quisque blandit, erat vitae tristique accumsan, leo felis elementum pede, in blandit dui lacus vitae felis.
Aenean mi elit, rhoncus non, bibendum vel, mattis vitae, augue. Vestibulum odio lorem, adipiscing non, pellentesque non, rutrum at, neque.
Mauris nec tortor a quam congue euismod. Mauris bibendum. Fusce in ligula. Maecenas in ipsum ac leo laoreet volutpat. Class aptent taciti
sociosqu ad litora torquent per conubia nostra, per inceptos himenaeos. Ut ac elit sed elit aliquet scelerisque. Praesent fermentum, tortor id
sagittis pharetra, lectus est pellentesque elit, in viverra leo velit vitae quam. Vestibulum congue. Vivamus risus libero, facilisis id, gravida et,
placerat ac, sapien. Vivamus vitae orci. Phasellus posuere. Fusce at neque. Integer tellus arcu, suscipit nec, accumsan nec, aliquet ac, felis.
Phasellus fringilla nisl eget nisl.
Aenean blandit fermentum enim. Fusce quis felis ut massa bibendum lacinia. Etiam augue lectus, imperdiet a, tristique ut, tincidunt eu, dui.
Aliquam blandit, nisl ac varius pretium, justo est imperdiet justo, in eleifend odio orci vitae ligula. Nullam bibendum neque non massa. Ut
enim neque, vestibulum vel, lobortis eu, lacinia sit amet, felis. Nam id dui. Nullam rutrum consequat nibh. Nam egestas. In vel nunc. Mauris
sit amet risus eget sapien consequat vestibulum.
Praesent lobortis. In hac habitasse platea dictumst. Proin eget ipsum adipiscing dui dapibus tincidunt. Proin molestie accumsan risus.
Aliquam erat volutpat. Cras semper auctor lacus. Aliquam molestie est vel nulla. Vivamus ornare lacinia odio. Vestibulum ante ipsum primis in
faucibus orci luctus et ultrices posuere cubilia Curae; Maecenas a sem.
Phasellus auctor gravida est. Nullam tempus pretium tortor. Mauris consectetur consequat turpis. Vivamus non tellus et augue accumsan
ullamcorper. Duis aliquam diam in ante. Nullam eleifend odio a urna. Morbi sed risus sed mi tincidunt pulvinar. Proin id erat. Nulla facilisis
lacus ac lorem. Aenean vestibulum, lacus sodales consectetur interdum, odio quam vehicula turpis, sit amet interdum quam lacus in tellus.

Discontinued operations
GROUP - IFRS
Tomra South America SA
On 31 August 2005, the Group sold its subsidiary Tomra South America SA. The Group had previously committed to a plan to sell the entity due to a
strategic decision to change the direction of the Group. The related assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale at 30 June 2005 in the quarterly
reporting in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. At 30 June 2005, a loss of NOK 80 million arose
on the measurement to fair value less cost to sell.
   
In August 2005, the division was sold for USD 19 million in cash, equal to the book value of the unit after NOK 80 million write-off in 2 quarter.   

Oslo, ... February 2009
KPMG AS
...

Analysis of the loss on sale of discontinued operation
Amounts in NOK million

2005

Operating revenues

249.2

Operating expenses
Cost of goods sold
Employee benefits expenses
Ordinary depreciation
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses

206.9
11.9
4.2
12.6
235.6

Net operating profit

13.6

Financial items
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net financial items

2.8
2.9
(0.1)

Profit of discontinued operations before tax
Income tax expense
Profit of discontinued operations after tax

13.5
3.9
9.6

Impairment loss regarding measurement to fair value less selling cost
Income tax related to impairment loss
Total loss on sale of discontinued operations

80.0
0.0
(70.4)

Effect of the disposal on individual assets and liabilities of the Group
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Amounts in NOK million
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Other current liabilities
Trade payables
Net identifiable assets and liabilities
Previous exchange rate differences booked against equity
Consideration received, satisfied in cash
Cash disposed of
Net cash (inflow)

2005
84.6
43.1
13.1
13.8
23.7
10.3
(19.3)
(9.7)
159.6
(37.1)
122.5
(10.3)
112.2
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Helping the world recycle
Our solutions are used to sort out valuable and resource-intensive materials
from waste streams. In doing so, we play a significant role in helping the world
recycle valuable resources, promoting a cleaner and more sustainable world.
RECYCLING - A REAL CONTRIBUTION TO
REDUCTION OF CLIMATE CHANGE EMISSIONS
While the popular focus for reduction of climate
change emissions has been the use of fossil fuels
in the transportation and energy sectors, it is clear
that closing the loop on resource-intensive
products such as plastics, aluminum and other
packaging material helps to avoid the emission of
millions of tons of carbon dioxide every year.
In fact, recycling one metric ton of aluminum
cans saves more than nine metric tons of carbon
dioxide emissions, equivalent to driving 45,000
kilometers in an ordinary car with emissions of
200 grams carbon dioxide per kilometer.
The equivalent saving from recycling one metric
ton of PET plastic bottles is 1.7 metric tons of
carbon dioxide, equivalent to driving almost
9,000 kilometers in the same car.
Collection and recycling of used packaging is
not necessarily profitable when undertaken in
traditional ways and many traditional collection
and recycling systems, aimed at achieving
politically determined recycling targets, are
therefore organized in a suboptimal way and
operated at a financial loss.
Enabling efficient and cost-effective collection
and recycling methodologies for used packaging
is therefore an important element in the race
against climate change, and TOMRA has taken
the lead, investing about NOK 200 million
annually in research and development.
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CLIMATE AND RESOURCE CONSERVATION
The volume of used material diverted from

unproductive to productive use through solutions
provided and/or operated by TOMRA continues to
increase.
Collection Technology Deposit Solutions
Reverse vending machines provided by TOMRA,
and owned by customers, collected around 30
billion beverage containers in 2007. The volume
potential within this segment is closely linked to
introduction and amendment of deposit-refund
legislation.
Carbon dioxide avoidance in this segment is related
to a reduced need for extracting and processing
natural resources and the reduced need for waste
treatment and storage facilities. The material
replacement effect alone helps to avoid around
two million metric tons of carbon dioxide emissions
annually.
Collection Technology Non-Deposit Solutions
Automated Recycling Centers provided by TOMRA
for the markets in Japan, UK and Greece collected
around 100 million beverage containers and other
household product packaging during 2007. The
volume collected in the non-deposit markets is
increasing rapidly as new and optimized equipment
and recycling business models are introduced in
more markets. Carbon dioxide emission reductions
in this segment are estimated at 7,500 metric tons
in 2007.
Materials Handling
TOMRA’s materials handling facilities in the United
States and Canada received and processed around
370,000 metric tons of used packaging material
for recycling in 2007, up from 295,000 metric tons

For more than a decade TOMRA has been at the forefront in
implementing comprehensive managerial systems and programs for
outlining and achieving environmental and social responsibility objectives.
To place an even greater emphasis on this important work, TOMRA has
now established a separate Corporate Responsibility Committee on its
Board of Directors, whose task will be to further develop the company’s
corporate responsibility objectives and reporting procedures.
in 2006. Most of the volume comes from TOMRA’s
Collection Technology Deposit Solutions operations
in the United States and Canada.

use, is estimated at more than five million metric
tons for 2007.

> Volume reduction segment
Carbon dioxide emission avoidance in this segment
relates to volume reduction of the collected
material prior to transportation from materials
handling facilities to material recyclers, and the
effects of replacing virgin material with secondary
material. The latter effect is estimated at one
million metric tons of carbon dioxide annually,
some of which will already have been included in
the Collection Technology segments.
Industrial Technology
> Optical sorting segment
Optical sorting technology is applied in material
recovery facilities and enables the identification
and removal of recyclable material from the more
general waste stream, thereby ensuring that used
material can be recycled, reducing the need for
waste processing and storage facilities.
The material throughput capacity of TiTech and
Commodas equipment was around 15 million
metric tons at the end of 2007. During 2007, 3.9
million metric tons of recyclables was sorted out
for material recycling, and almost 900,000 metric
tons of material was sorted into refuse-derived
fuel  (RDF), which is used as a replacement for
traditional fossil fuels in industrial processes.
The carbon dioxide emission avoidance, relating to
the volume of material brought back into productive

Volume reduction of sorted recyclable and general
waste prior to transportation reduces the need for
transport movements and, therefore, the use of
fossil fuels. It is estimated that equipment
manufactured by the Orwak Group in use today
can compact around 85 million metric tons of
material daily, saving more than 45,000 transport
movements and 700,000 liters of fuel each day.
The carbon dioxide emission saving from this
avoided fuel use is potentially worth 600,000
metric tons of carbon dioxide annually.
The total avoided emission of carbon dioxide
resulting directly and indirectly from TOMRA’s
operations and solutions amounted to almost
nine million metric tons during 2007. This is
a significant number and equals, for example,
around 10% of the total annual emission of
TOMRA’s homeland, Norway.
So, what does this mean? TOMRA is certainly not
claiming the full credit for this emission avoidance;
it is merely used to illustrate the power of recycling activities when it comes to fighting global
warming. While it is reasonable to say that TOMRA
has contributed directly and indirectly towards
these fantastic numbers, it is actually TOMRA’s
technology customers and partners and, not least,
the general public that participate in attractive
recycling activities who should be credited.
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OUR ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT
While the positive environmental impact resulting
from TOMRA’s operations and the use of its
solutions is significant, TOMRA is also focused on
minimizing the environmental costs generated
from its internal processes. This year the reporting
scope has been expanded and adjusted compared
to previous years.

A small number of TOMRA locations have utility
costs included in the total property rental cost,
and these have not been included in the report.
Emission factors for grid electricity have been
simplified into groups -- Norway, EU25, North
America, Other, Certified renewable (0-emission)
-- based on the GHG Indicator framework.

The rate of TOMRA product take-back and
recycling as defined by the EU WEEE directive
(on a per unit rather than weight basis) in 2007
was 70% overall.  Broken down by region, the
product take-back rate was about 100% in the
Nordic region, 75% in remaining parts of the EU.
In the US most products are refurbished or
otherwise re-used after their initial lease period.

> Energy consumption related to
Energy usage
TOMRA’s energy usage is related to the operation
of the vehicle fleet, use of other forms of transportation, operation of buildings and machinery
and, from this year, we also include the estimated
energy consumption of TOMRA’s products during
their use phase, though limited in this report to the
reverse vending machines used in the Collection
Technology segments. In future years, the energy
usage of other product groups may also be
included in order to more accurately illustrate the
net environmental contribution of the TOMRA
Group by taking into account the environmental
costs as well as the savings.
Energy consumption is from 2007 presented as
Barrels of oil equivalents in order to make the energy
consumption measurement easier to understand.

> Vehicle fleet
The reporting format for vehicle fuel usage
has been modified and now includes usage of
employee-owned vehicles for business purposes.
Reporting of fuel usage for company vehicles has
also been altered and is now based solely on actual
fuel consumption instead of mileage driven.

the use of TOMRA products
It has been estimated that 50 percent of the
installed base of around 60,000 RVMs include
compactors. The estimated annual energy
consumption of RVMs with compactors is
2,000 kWhs, based on an average of 720,000
packaging units collected per unit. The estimated
consumption for non-compacting RVMs is
1,000 kWhs per annum.
Waste generation
Waste is generated in TOMRA’s offices, factories,
materials handling facilities and in the sales and
service operations worldwide, most of which is
sorted locally for recycling. The increase in the
waste generation from 2006 to 2007 is estimated
to be in line with increased activity levels across
the organization.
Water usage
Water usage has been included by TOMRA since
the initial environmental report in 1998. However,
with the divestment of the aluminum reclamation
plant in Brazil in 2004, water usage is now seen as
insignificant from an industrial point of view and
the reporting of water usage has therefore been
discontinued.

> Fuel generated energy
Energy generated from fossil fuel based sources at
TOMRA facilities are included.

> Grid electricity
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Energy purchased from energy utilities is included.

A new improvement program will be presented
in the 2008 annual report. TOMRA’s Board of
Directors has formally established a Corporate
Responsibility Committee that will guide the
development of the new improvement program.
DEVELOPING MORE EFFICIENT
TECHNOLOGY, SOLUTIONS AND
RECYCLING METHODOLOGIES
TOMRA’s business revolves around making
recycling more efficient and attractive and in
2007 an innovative project in California clearly
took the lead in illustrating the efficiencies that
can be gained by innovative use of technology.

Material input and product recycling
TOMRA has traditionally not reported the material
input into manufacturing processes for reverse
vending machines or other products groups, or the
resource usage generated inside the operations of
supplier organizations.

Cooperation between two TOMRA group
organizations, TOMRA Pacific and Orwak USA,
resulted in the introduction of new compaction
technology at TOMRA’s rePlanet collection
centers in California, cutting the number of
transport movements from more than 6,000 to less
than 2,000 per annum and reducing carbon dioxide
emissions by almost 1,000 metric tons per year.

TOMRA will evaluate the feasibility and relevance
of initiating such reporting, which would be based
on estimated rather than actual data.

Considering that the total transportation-derived
carbon dioxide emission of the TOMRA group is
around 23,000 metric tons per year, this is clearly

> Air transport
Air transportation for TOMRA’s group functions in
Norway and the operations in the US are included
in the report.

ECO-INTENSITY AND IMPROVEMENT TARGETS
Traditionally, TOMRA has reported its performance
across its environmental footprint in the form of
eco-intensity measured against an improvement
target. In the annual report for 2006, the five year
improvement program running from 2001-2006
was concluded, and summed up as a moderate
success, although we recognize that the targets
established in the year 2000 could have been
more ambitious.

TOMRA INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT :

a significant step in the right direction.
Further information about this innovative project
can be found in TOMRA’s news magazine RETURN,
issue 02/2007.
ECONOMIC VALUE CREATION
TOMRA is not only a provider of recycling
solutions, but also of employment opportunities
and salaries for employees, tax contributions to
governments and dividends to shareholders. Like
most business organizations, TOMRA has a widespread economic effect on society.
TOMRA reports its economic contribution in terms
of value distribution. In this term we include the
value added generated in the reporting year as
well as any extraordinary distribution of value
previously generated such as extraordinary
dividends and share buyback programs.
Value added within TOMRA’s operations in 2007
amounted to NOK 1,372 million, down from NOK
1,524 million in 2006, while the value distributed
(including share buyback) amounted to NOK 1,563
million, down from NOK 1,572 million in 2006.

VALUE DISTRIBUTED 2007
(Value added, dividend and share buy back)
Financial expenses 1.4%

Share buy back 25.7%

Telephone: +47 66 79 92 41
Fax: +47 66 79 92 50
E-mail: espen.gundersen@tomra.no

Salaries 58%

Dividend 4.5%

Taxes 9.7%

In 2007, salaries accounted for 58% (NOK 907 million) of value
distributed, while TOMRA’s share buyback program and dividend
to shareholders combined to account for 30% (NOK 471 million).
Taxes to governments represented 9.7% (NOK 151 million).
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TOMRA is interested in your feedback or comments to its
corporate responsibility reporting program, please do not
hesitate to contact us at:

Espen Gundersen
Chief Financial Officer

Minority interest 0.8%

Tomra Systems ASA
Corporate Responsibility
P.O. Box 278, 1372 Asker, Norway
impact@tomra.com

TOMRA Non-Financial Report
CLIMATE CHANGE STATEMENT

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS FROM OPERATIONS

ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN MANUFACTURING,
SALES, SERVICE AND OPERATIONAL PROCESSES

METRIC TONS CARBON DIOXIDE

2007

BARRELS OIL EQUIVALENT
Emission from stationary sources
100
Heating oil
  100
Natural gas
  0
Emission from purchased grid electricity 5,500
Norway
  0
Europe EU25
1,000
North America
4,500
Other world average
  0
Certified low-carbon or renewable
  0
Emission from transportation
23,300
Petrol vehicles
4,800
Diesel vehicles
18,100
Airfare
  400
Total direct emissions
28,900
Emission from products during use-phase 45,900
RVMs owned and operated
by TOMRA and customers
45,900

200
  200
  0
6,100
  0
1,000
5,100
  0
  0
19,700
4,300
15,400
n/a
26,000
45,900

Total direct and indirect emissions

72,000

75,000

45,900

AVOIDED CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS
THROUGH PRODUCT USE AND OPERATIONS
METRIC TONS CARBON DIOXIDE

2007

2007

2006

Energy consumption, stationary sources
270
Heating oil
250
Natural gas
20
Propane
0
Energy consumption, purchased
grid electricity
9,200
Norway
2,670
Europe EU25
1,670
North America
4,760
Other world average
20
Certified low-carbon or renewable
80
Energy consumption, transportation
56,420
Petrol vehicles
12,940
Diesel vehicles
42,600
Airfare
880
Total direct energy consumption
65,890
Energy consumption, products
during use-phase
54,980
RVMs owned by TOMRA and customers 54,980

350
330
20
0

54,980
54,980

Total direct and indirect
energy consumption

112,870

120,870

9,720
2,540
1,620
5,460
10
90
47,820
11,660
36,160
n/a
57,890

2006

Beverage container collection
through RVMs and ARCs 1)
2,086,000 2,070,000
Plastic bottles
347,000
344,000
Glass bottles
677,000
672,000
Aluminium cans
1 047,000
1 039,000
Steel cans
15,000
15,000
Packaging material transport
2)
and handling
951,000
860,000
Glass bottles
55,000
38,000
Aluminium cans
782,000
717,000
Plastic bottles, PET
111,000
101,000
Plastic bottles, HDPE
1,000
2,000
Cardboard and fiber
2,000
2,000
Steel cans
  0
  0
Other materials
  0
  0
Packaging material sorted for recycling
3)
from mixed sources, Titech
5,344,000 1,492,000
Glass
36,000
n/a
Aluminium
1,298,000
n/a
PET
1,849,000
991,000
HDPE
516,000
276,000
Fiber
567,000
113,000
Refuse-derived fuel
  800,000
  0
Other
278,000
112,000
Reduction of transport due to
material compaction, Orwak 4)
598,000
549,000
25 billion tonnes compacted annually 598,000
549,000
Total emission
avoidance
8,980,000 4,970,000
Net carbon dioxide
emission/(avoidance)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY

2006

(8,900,000) (4,900,000)

1. Beverage container collection through RVMs and ARCs.
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The carbon dioxide saving is calculated based on the total unit of
beverage containers collected through TOMRA’s over 60,000 RVM and
ARC installations, which is estimated to be about 28 billion units annually. All beverage containers are assumed to be non-refillable, hence
the weight used for calculations is significantly lower than in practice.
The split between packaging types is estimated based on beverage
consumption data and TOMRA estimates. The full benefit of collection
and recycling the beverage container material into new material, as
opposed to being deposited in landfill, is included in the calculation.

Corporate governance reporting
The report is included in the annual report. TOMRA
has established a code of conduct for managers
within the Group.

2. Business description
TOMRA’s scope of business and strategy is established in the bylaws, and is described in further
detail within the annual report and the web site.
3. Equity and dividends
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
4. Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates
All material recommendations are fulfilled. No
material transactions between the company and
related parties that requires a third party
evaluation have taken place during 2007.
5. Freely traded shares
No form of restrictions on trading of the
company’s shares exist.

WASTE GENERATION
WASTE GENERATION FROM MANUFACTURING,
SALES, SERVICE AND OPERATIONS
METRIC TONS WASTE

2007

2006

Waste generation
Paper
Cardboard
Plastics
Wood
Electric and electronic waste
Metal scrap
Batteries
Hazardous waste
Unsorted

1,745
70
80
870
155
40
415
20
0
95

1,585
50
25
865
115
45
395
0
5
85

IMPACT ON PEOPLE
WITHIN THE TOMRA GROUP
2007
2006
Key data					
Number of employees
(#)
2,040
2,022
Female employees
(%)
20
18
Female managers
(%)
19
17
Ethnic minority employees (%)
32
35
Reportable injuries
(#)
167
116

NOTES
Emission factors are based on Greenhouse Gas Protocol (www.ghgprotocol.org), and “Waste Management Options and Climate Change”
(www.ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/studies/pdf/climate_change.pdf).

1.

“Beverage container collection through RVMs and ARCs.”

6. General meetings
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
7. Nomination committee
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
8. Corporate assembly and 
board of directors
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
Independent board members are appointed by
the shareholders.
9. The board of directors’ activities
Currently, no deputy chairman has been appointed
and the Board continually evaluates the need for
such a position. The Board has established the
following committees; audit, compensation,
nomination and corporate responsibility.
10. Risk management and internal control
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
11. Remuneration of the board of directors
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
12. Remuneration of the
executive management
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

3. Packaging material sorted for recycling from mixed sources, TiTech.
Estimated material throughput in TiTech installations is used in the
calculation of avoided carbon dioxide emissions. The full benefit  of
sorting and recycling of the material into new material is included
in the calculation, as well as the the replacement of fossil fuels by
refuse-derived fuel.
4. Reduction of transport due to material compaction, Orwak Group.

2. Packaging material transport and handling.

It is estimated that the installed base of Orwak Group products can
compact around 85 million metric tons of material daily, reducing
both transport kilometers and fuel usage each year. This is estimated
to save over 45,000 transport movements and 700,000 liters of fuel  
each day. This calculation does not take into account the carbon dioxide benefit of material recycling.

The carbon dioxide saving is calculated based on the tonnage of beverage container material transported and handled by TOMRA in USA.
The full benefit of collection and recycling of the beverage container
material into new material, as opposed to being deposited in landfill,
is included in the calculation and this leads to an element of double
reporting when seen in relation to the saving reported under

The provision of information on carbon dioxide emission
avoidance is illustrative only, and intended solely  as an aid to
illustrate the benefit to society generated by the Tomra Group.
The above information does not constitute a full life cycle analysis.
The methodology and assumptions used  in calculating carbon
dioxide avoidance are available upon request.

13. Information and communication
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
14. Takeovers
All material recommendations are fulfilled.
15. Auditor
All material recommendations are fulfilled.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
In TOMRA, corporate governance is defined to
include those processes and control features which
have been established to protect the interests of
TOMRA’s shareholders and other stakeholders such
as employees, suppliers and customers. TOMRA’s
Corporate Governance Policy has been approved
by the Board of Directors and is available on
TOMRA’s corporate website (www.tomra.com).
Values, code of conduct and quality systems
Integrity, Innovation, Personal Initiative, Fighting
Spirit, and Enthusiasm. These five elements stand
at the center of TOMRA’s value structure, representing the core values of the corporation. We
consider these principles to be of vital importance
for the success of our organization and the basis
for the way we conduct ourselves as we strive to
achieve our business goals. TOMRA has also developed and implemented an internal code of conduct which sets out key principles for employees in
terms of behavior as TOMRA representatives.
TOMRA’s quality and environmental management
systems are based on the international ISO 9001
and ISO 14001 management systems standards.
All units within the Technology division of Tomra
Systems have been certified according to these
standards. This ensures that our internal systems
and procedures are aligned with international
“best-practice” and that responsibility and
authority is allocated for all important tasks.
Corporate governance policy
TOMRA has implemented a corporate governance
program in accordance with the Norwegian recommendation for corporate governance (“Norsk
anbefaling til eierstyring og selskapsledelse”).
On the left is a short summary with references
to the chapters in the recommendation dated 28
November 2006, focusing on discrepancies between
TOMRA’s practices and those recommended.
Principles for remuneration
of Group Management
The guiding principle is that remuneration and
other employment terms for Group Management
shall be competitive to ensure that TOMRA can

45

attract and retain skilled personnel.
Salary should include both a fixed and a variable
part. The fixed salary should reflect the individual’s
area of responsibility and performance over time.
The variable salary may amount to a maximum of
55% of the fixed annual salary and be based on
the TOMRA Group’s and/or the executive’s unit’s
fulfillment of certain performance goals.
The performance goals for the CEO are defined
by the Board of TOMRA. The goals for the other
Group Management Members are defined by the
CEO and reviewed by the TOMRA Compensation
Committee. The goals may be related to financial
targets, such as operating profit, or other
performance related objectives.
The CEO’s remuneration package, and
adjustments of this, is agreed between the CEO
and the Chairman of the Board and approved by
the Board of TOMRA. The remuneration packages
for the other Group Management members,
including adjustments of these, are agreed
between each member and the CEO, reviewed by
the Compensation Committee and finally reviewed
by the Board of TOMRA.
No new option programs will be established in
2008, neither for managers nor employees in
TOMRA. However, given approval from the annual
general assembly, a share saving program might
be introduced, where managers and employees
within the Group can invest in TOMRA shares at a
discounted price, under the assumption that the
shares are kept and the employment continued for
a given period of time.
In 2006 a Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) was
implemented for Group Management members
and other senior managers within TOMRA. For
Group Management members, the LTIP is tied to
the achievement of profit growth by the Group.
Potential earnings under the LTIP are capped. The
LTIP has been established and approved by the
Board of TOMRA and the Compensation Committee
monitors the plan to ensure it is implemented in
line with the mandate and objective.
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In addition to fixed and variable salary, other

benefits such as company car, health insurance,
interest- and installment free loans, free
newspaper and telephone might be provided.
The total value of these benefits should be
moderate and only account for a limited part
of the total remuneration package.

established. The process used by the Board and the
audit committee to review the effectiveness of the
systems of internal control includes the following:

> reviewing the external and internal audit
work plans;

> considering reports from management and
There should be no special pension plans for
Group Management members as they participate
at the same terms as other employees in the
company in which they are employed, except
where pension plans had been established
before TOMRA acquired an entity and the Group
Management member was party to the plan at the
date of acquisition.
The notification period for Group Management
members should be three to six months, excluding
US based Members where fixed length
assignments might be established.
The CEO should be entitled to 12 months severance
pay. No other automatic severance pay or post
employment arrangements for Group Management
members should exceed 24 months.
A detailed account of the remuneration of each
member of Group Management, including the LTIP,
is found in disclosure note 13.
The 2008 principles and guidelines for management remuneration do not deviate materially from
those approved by the annual general assembly in
2007, for the calendar year 2007. The policies and
principles followed through 2007 have been in line
with the established guidelines.
Internal Control Environment
and Risk Management Systems
The Board is ultimately responsible for TOMRA’s
systems of internal control and for reviewing their
effectiveness. Responsibility for individual areas of
control has been allocated through the CEO down
to senior management. The systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives and can
provide only reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
A process for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by the Group has been

the requirements of individual business activities.
Controls in areas with significant risks include clear
parameters for delegation of authority, segregation
of duties, regular reporting and reviews.

>

internal and external auditors on the systems
of internal control and any identified control
weaknesses;
discussing with management the actions
taken on problem areas.

The Board is represented on the Audit Committee
and the Board chairman receives minutes from
each Audit Committee meeting.
The main features of the risk and control
framework are outlined below:
Risk Management  
The Board is responsible for approving the
Group’s strategy, its principal markets and the
level of acceptable risk. It has established a risk
management process which identifies the key risks
facing the business and ensures those risks are
managed effectively.
Control Environment  
An organizational structure with defined levels
of responsibility and delegation of authority to
appropriately qualified management has been
established. A chart of authority documents each
level of authority throughout the organization.
Matters reserved for the Board are clearly defined
and appropriate authorization limits and reporting
procedures have been implemented.
Information and Communication  
The Group has a system for planning and financial
reporting. Budgets are approved annually by the
Board. Actual results compared with budget and
prior periods, including management’s written
comments, are reviewed monthly by the Board.
Strategic business initiatives and investment
spending plans are also individually approved by
the Board.
Control Activities
Internal control procedures have been tailored to

The Audit Committee assists the Board
in overseeing the process for identifying,
evaluating and managing risks, considering
internal and external audit reports, and reviewing
the Group’s financial statements.
Monitoring Systems  
The operation of the system of internal control is
the responsibility of line management. It is subject
to independent review by internal audit and, where
appropriate, by the Group’s external auditor and
external regulators. The reports of all of these
bodies on internal control are reviewed by the
Audit committee on behalf of the Board. The Audit
Committee ensures that, where necessary,
appropriate corrective action is taken.
The internal audits are performed by the Group
Controller and the Group Accounting manager and,
in their role as internal auditors, they report directly to the audit committee. The internal audit team
carries out independent assessments of risk and
the adequacy of related controls within the Group.
Findings and recommendations for strengthening
the control framework are agreed with management and the implementation of agreed changes
is monitored by the internal audit team. The Audit
Committee reviews internal audit coverage and
performance and considers significant findings
and recommendations. The internal audit team has
unrestricted access to all records, personnel and
property of the Group to collect such information
as is necessary for the performance of its work.
The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, has
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s systems
of internal control for the year and up to the date
of approval of the annual report and accounts.
As might be expected in a group of this size and
complexity, a small number of internal control
irregularities occurred during the period under
review. These were identified on a timely basis
and appropriate actions taken. None of these
irregularities in internal control resulted in any
material losses which require disclosure.
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A leading global provider of advanced solutions
enabling recovery and recycling of materials
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